SCIENTIFIC OPINION



ADOPTED: 30 June 2017 doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4960

Assessment of listing and categorisation of animal diseases within the framework of the Animal Health Law (Regulation (EU) No 2016/429): paratuberculosis

EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW), Simon More, Anette Bøtner, Andrew Butterworth, Paolo Calistri, Klaus Depner, Sandra Edwards, Bruno Garin-Bastuji, Margaret Good, Christian Gortázar Schmidt, Virginie Michel, Miguel Angel Miranda, Søren Saxmose Nielsen, Mohan Raj, Liisa Sihvonen, Hans Spoolder, Jan Arend Stegeman, Hans-Hermann Thulke, Antonio Velarde, Preben Willeberg, Christoph Winckler, Francesca Baldinelli, Alessandro Broglia,

Gabriele Zancanaro, Beatriz Beltrán-Beck, Lisa Kohnle, Joana Morgado and Dominique Bicout

Abstract

Paratuberculosis has been assessed according to the criteria of the Animal Health Law (AHL), in particular criteria of Article 7 on disease profile and impacts, Article 5 on the eligibility of paratuberculosis to be listed, Article 9 for the categorisation of paratuberculosis according to disease prevention and control rules as in Annex IV and Article 8 on the list of animal species related to paratuberculosis. The assessment has been performed following a methodology composed of information collection and compilation, expert judgement on each criterion at individual and, if no consensus was reached before, also at collective level. The output is composed of the categorical answer, and for the questions where no consensus was reached, the different supporting views are reported. Details on the methodology used for this assessment are explained in a separate opinion. According to the assessment performed, paratuberculosis can be considered eligible to be listed for Union intervention as laid down in Article 5(3) of the AHL. The disease would comply with the criteria in Sections 3, 4 and 5 of Annex IV of the AHL, for the application of the disease prevention and control rules referred to in points (c), (d) and (e) of Article 9(1). The animal species to be listed for paratuberculosis according to Article 8(3) criteria are several species of mammals and birds as susceptible species and some species of the families Bovidae, Cervidae and Leporidae as reservoirs.

© 2017 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

Keywords: Paratuberculosis, Johne's disease, *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis*, MAP, Animal Health Law, listing, categorisation, impact

Requestor: European Commission Question number: EFSA-Q-2016-00588 Correspondence: alpha@efsa.europa.eu



Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW) members: Dominique Bicout, Anette Bøtner, Andrew Butterworth, Paolo Calistri, Klaus Depner, Sandra Edwards, Bruno Garin-Bastuji, Margaret Good, Christian Gortázar Schmidt, Virginie Michel, Miguel Angel Miranda, Simon More, Søren Saxmose Nielsen, Mohan Raj, Liisa Sihvonen, Hans Spoolder, Jan Arend Stegeman, Hans-Hermann Thulke, Antonio Velarde, Preben Willeberg, Christoph Winckler.

Acknowledgements: The AHAW Panel wishes to thank Polychronis Kostoulas for the support provided to this scientific output.

Suggested citation: EFSA AHAW Panel (EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare), More S, Bøtner A, Butterworth A, Calistri P, Depner K, Edwards S, Garin-Bastuji B, Good M, Gortázar Schmidt C, Michel V, Miranda MA, Nielsen SS, Raj M, Sihvonen L, Spoolder H, Stegeman JA, Thulke H-H, Velarde A, Willeberg P, Winckler C, Baldinelli F, Broglia A, Zancanaro G, Beltrán-Beck B, Kohnle L, Morgado J and Bicout D, 2017. Scientific Opinion on the assessment of listing and categorisation of animal diseases within the framework of the Animal Health Law (Regulation (EU) No 2016/429): paratuberculosis. EFSA Journal 2017;15(7):4960, 47 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4960

ISSN: 1831-4732

© 2017 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and no modifications or adaptations are made.

Reproduction of the images listed below is prohibited and permission must be sought directly from the copyright holder:

Figure 1 (Annex): © World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE)



The EFSA Journal is a publication of the European Food Safety Authority, an agency of the European Union.





Table of contents

Abstrac	t	1
1.	Introduction	4
1.1.	Background and Terms of Reference as provided by the requestor	
1.2.	Interpretation of the Terms of Reference	4
2.	Data and methodologies	4
3.	Assessment	4
3.1.	Assessment according to Article 7 criteria	4
3.1.1.	Article 7(a) Disease Profile	
3.1.1.1.	. Article 7(a)(i) Animal species concerned by the disease	
	Article 7(a)(ii) The morbidity and mortality rates of the disease in animal populations	
	Article 7(a)(iii) The zoonotic character of the disease	
	Article 7(a)(iv) The resistance to treatments, including antimicrobial resistance	
	Article $7(a)(v)$ The persistence of the disease in an animal population or the environment	
	Article 7(a)(vi) The routes and speed of transmission of the disease between animals, and, when	
	relevant, between animals and humans	15
3.1.1.7	Article 7(a)(vii) The absence or presence and distribution of the disease in the Union,	
01111/1	and, where the disease is not present in the Union, the risk of its introduction into the Union	16
3.1.1.8	. Article 7(a)(viii) The existence of diagnostic and disease control tools	
	Article 7(b) The impact of diseases	
	Article 7(b)(i) The impact of the disease on agricultural and aquaculture production and	
5.1.2.1.	other parts of the economy	17
3122	Article 7(b)(ii) The impact of the disease on human health	
	Article 7(b)(iii) The impact of the disease on animal welfare	
	Article 7(b)(iv) The impact of the disease on biodiversity and the environment	
3.1.3.		
3.1.4.	Article 7(d) The feasibility, availability and effectiveness of the following disease	20
5.1.1.	prevention and control measures	20
21/1	Article 7(d)(i) Diagnostic tools and capacities	
	. Article 7(d)(ii) Vaccination	
	. Article 7(d)(iii) Medical treatments	
	. Article 7(d)(iii) Medical deathents	
	. Article 7(d)(v) Restrictions on the movement of animals and products	
	. Article 7(d)(v) Kestrictions on the movement of animals and products	
	Article 7(d)(vi) Nining of animals	
	Article 7(d)(Vii) Disposal of carcasses and other relevant animal by-products Article 7(e) The impact of disease prevention and control measures	
	Article 7(e) The impact of disease prevention and control measures	
	Article 7(e)(ii) The societal acceptance of disease prevention and control measures	
3.1.3.3. 2 1 E 4	. Article 7(e)(iii) The welfare of affected subpopulations of kept and wild animals Article 7(e)(iv) The environment and biodiversity	20
3.1.5.4.	Assessment according to Article 5 criteria.	20
	Non-consensus questions	27
3.2.2.	Outcome of the assessment of paratuberculosis according to criteria of Article 5(3) of the AHL	20
2.2	on its eligibility to be listed	
3.3.	Assessment according to Article 9 criteria	
3.3.1.	Non-consensus questions	30
3.3.2.	Outcome of the assessment of criteria in Annex IV for paratuberculosis for the	24
2.4	purpose of categorisation as in Article 9 of the AHL	
3.4.	Assessment of Article 8	
4.	Conclusions	
Referen		34
	nces	

1. Introduction

1.1. Background and Terms of Reference as provided by the requestor

The background and Terms of Reference (ToR) as provided by the European Commission for the present document are reported in Section 1.2 of the scientific opinion on the ad hoc methodology followed for the assessment of the disease to be listed and categorised according to the criteria of Article 5, Annex IV according to Article 9, and 8 within the Animal Health Law (AHL) framework (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017).

1.2. Interpretation of the Terms of Reference

The interpretation of the ToR is as in Section 1.2 of the scientific opinion on the ad hoc methodology followed for the assessment of the disease to be listed and categorised according to the criteria of Article 5, Annex IV according to Article 9, and 8 within the AHL framework (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017).

The present document reports the results of assessment on paratuberculosis according to the criteria of the AHL articles as follows:

- Article 7: paratuberculosis profile and impacts
- Article 5: eligibility of paratuberculosis to be listed
- Article 9: categorisation of paratuberculosis according to disease prevention and control rules as in Annex IV
- Article 8: list of animal species related to paratuberculosis.

2. Data and methodologies

The methodology applied in this opinion is described in detail in a dedicated document about the ad hoc method developed for assessing any animal disease for the listing and categorisation of diseases within the AHL framework (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017).

3. Assessment

3.1. Assessment according to Article 7 criteria

This section presents the assessment of paratuberculosis according to the Article 7 criteria of the AHL and related parameters (see Table 2 of the opinion on methodology (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017)), based on the information contained in the fact-sheet as drafted by the selected disease scientist (see Section 2.1 of the scientific opinion on the ad hoc methodology) and amended by the AHAW Panel.

3.1.1. Article 7(a) Disease Profile

Paratuberculosis is a chronic intestinal infection caused by *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* (MAP). The disease was originally described as a peculiar case of bovine tuberculosis more than a century ago (Johne and Frothingham, 1895), but was later characterised as an independent entity when B. Bang infected calves with intestinal smears of diseased cows (Bang, 1906). MAP primarily affects domestic and wild ruminants and has a worldwide distribution (Sweeney, 2011). The main clinical features are: initially intermittent diarrhoea that becomes persistent and profuse. It leads to increased loss of plasma proteins, malabsorption of nutrients and water and therefore weight loss and declining milk production.

The progressing MAP infection has severe consequences in the subclinically infected and, especially, the clinically affected animals, leading to reduced milk yield (Lombard et al., 2005; Raizman et al., 2007), weight loss (Benedictus et al., 1987; Hutchinson, 1996), infertility (Johnson-Ifearulundu et al., 2000; Kostoulas et al., 2006a) and eventually premature removal from the herd. MAP is also suspected of being involved in the aetiology of Crohn's disease (CD) (e.g. Uzoigwe et al., 2007). This potential implication, if confirmed, adds importance to control efforts aiming to prevent transmission through milk consumption and other products of animal origin.

MAP control has been largely hampered by the absence of diagnostic tests that can effectively detect animals at the early infection stages. The sensitivity for most of the existing humoral tests increases with disease progression and only animals in the advanced stages are effectively identified through testing. Beaver et al. (2017) have confirmed earlier work by Van Schaik et al. (2003a,b)



demonstrating that faecal shedding generally precedes a positive humoral response by showing that spikes in faecal shedding of MAP predicted high serum enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) values up to 2 months later (Van Schaik et al., 2003b; Beaver et al., 2017). Various classification systems have been proposed to describe the various stages of MAP infection. Most of them depend on disease progression. For example, Whitlock and Buergelt (1996) described four stages: (i) silent infection, (ii) subclinical disease, (iii) clinical disease and (iv) advanced clinical disease (Whitlock and Buergelt, 1996). Animals in the first stage remain undetected with standard diagnostics, while a small percentage (15–25%) of animals in the second stage can be detected. Most of the animals in the third and fourth stage test positive.

An alternative classification considers the different stages of MAP infection in combination with the purpose of testing (i.e. prevalence estimation, control, eradication, etc.) and can be more helpful for a control-oriented approach (Nielsen and Toft, 2008). Animals can be (i) infected that carry MAP intracellularly and some of them control the infection, whereas others proceed to next stages; (ii) infectious that shed sufficient load of MAP to infect a susceptible herd mate; (iii) affected with chronic or intermittent diarrhoea and/or suboptimal productivity. MAP-infected animals are primarily of relevance for prevalence estimation; MAP-infectious animals when transmission should be avoided in a control scheme and MAP affected when the target is animals that should be removed from a herd because of their poor productivity and hence negative input.

3.1.1.1. Article 7(a)(i) Animal species concerned by the disease

Susceptible animal species

An extensive but not exhaustive list of susceptible animal species (from which MAP has only been isolated, and species from which MAP has been isolated and clinical signs associated with MAP infection have been reported) is shown in Table 1. Among domestic ruminants, cattle, sheep and goat are commonly affected (Nielsen and Toft, 2009), while it has also been reported in farmed zebu cattle (Fernandez-Silva et al., 2014), llamas (Belknap et al., 1994), alpacas (Ridge et al., 1995), fallow and red deer (Machackova et al., 2004). Natural infections are reported from mouflon in Austria and the Czech Republic, and chamois in Austria. Studies of Cervidae indicate that at least fallow deer can be infected with MAP subsequent to natural exposure, as demonstrated by histopathology. MAP has also been isolated from fallow deer, red deer and roe deer in various countries of Europe (Nebbia et al., 2000; Machackova et al., 2004; Deutz et al., 2005; Carta et al., 2013), but histopathological investigations were not carried out in these studies. Hence, although carriage was demonstrated, disease may not have been present. Tryland et al. (2004) reported serological responses against MAP in moose in Norway, but methods to detect MAP or pathological changes were not applied. Wild boars have also tested positive for MAP in tissue culture (Pribylova et al., 2011a; Carta et al., 2013), but in neither of the studies were histopathological changes described.

Among lagomorphs, MAP infections have been established in rabbits, but there is insufficient data to determine if infections can occur in hares. MAP infection can be maintained in a wild lagomorph population (Judge et al., 2006). The high proportion of infected foxes may be a result of the high number of infected rabbits, which may be consumed by the foxes. Among free-ranging carnivores, only a few studies have been carried out. It is highly likely that MAP infections occur in fox, but less certain whether the infection can be established in other carnivore species. Only a limited number of rodent-studies on MAP infections have been carried out, which is surprising considering their generally huge population size and often close proximity to farmed animals. It is not possible to determine whether natural infections occur among rodents based on these studies (Florou et al., 2008).



Table 1:Farmed (F) or free-ranging (R) animal species from which *Mycobacterium avium* subsp.
paratuberculosis (MAP) has been isolated (I) and susceptible species (S) from which MAP
has been isolated and clinical signs associated with paratuberculosis have been reported.
Reporting of experimental (E) and/or natural (N) MAP infection is also listed as well as the
extinction risk of each species according to the red list of the International Union for
Conservation of Nature (IUCN)

F/R	Order	Family	Species	I,S	E/N ^(a)	IUCN ^(b)	Reference
F	Artiodactyla	Bovidae	Cattle (Bos taurus)	S	E,N	NE	Nielsen and Toft (2009)
F			Goats (Capra aegagrus hircus)	S	E,N	NE	
F			Sheep (Ovis aries)	S	E,N	NE	
F			Zebu cattle (Bos indicus)	S	N	NE	Chiodini et al. (1984b)
F			American bison (Bison bison)	S	N	NT	Buergelt and Ginn, 2000)
F		Camelidae	Llama (<i>Lama glama</i>)	S	N	LC	Kramsky et al. (2000)
F			Alpaca (Vicugna pacos)	S	N	NE	Ridge et al. (1995)
F		Cervidae	Fallow deer (Dama dama)	S	N	LC	Machackova et al. (2004)
F			Red deer (Cervus elaphus)	S	Ν	LC	
F			Elk (Cervus elaphus canadensis)	S	N	LC	Manning et al. (1998)
R	Aves		Buzzard (Buteo buteo)	Ι	N	LC	Beard et al. (2001b)
R			Crow (Corvus corone)	Ι	Ν	LC	
R			Feral pigeon (Columbia livia)	Ι	Ν	-	
R			House sparrow (<i>Passer</i> domesticus)	Ι	N	LC	
R			Jackdaw (Corvus monedula)	Ι	Ν	LC	
R			Pheasant (Phasianus colchicus)	Ι	Ν	LC	
R			Rook (Corvus frugilegus)	Ι	Ν	LC	
R			Wood pigeon (<i>Columba palumbus</i>)	Ι	N	LC	
R			European starling (<i>Sturnus vulgaris</i>)	Ι	N	LC	Corn et al. (2005)
R			Common snipe (<i>Gallinago gallinago</i>)	Ι	N	LC	
R			Chicken (Gallus gallus)	S	E	LC	Larsen et al. (1972)
R			Diamant sparrow (<i>Emblema guttata</i>)	S	N	_	Miranda et al. (2009)
R	Carnivora	Canidae	Fox (Vulpes vulpes)	S	N	LC	Beard et al. (2001b)
R			Dog (Canis lupus)	S	N	LC	Kukanich et al. (2013)
R]	Felidae	Feral cat (Felis catus)	Ι	N	_	
R		Mephitidae	Stripen skunk (<i>Mephitis mephitis</i>)	Ι	N	LC	Corn et al. (2005)
R		Mustelidae	Badger (Meles meles)	Ι	N	LC	Daniels et al. (2003)
R		Ursidae	European brown Bear (Ursus arctos)	Ι	N	LC	Kopecna et al. (2006)



F/R	Order	Family	Species	I,S	E/N ^(a)	IUCN ^(b)	Reference
R			Stoat (Mustela erminea)	Ι	N	LC	Daniels et al. (2003)
R			Weasel (Mustela nivalis)	Ι	N	LC	
R		Procyonidae	Raccoon (Procyon lotor)	I	N	LC	Corn et al. (2005)
R	Lagomorpha	Leporidae	Hare (<i>Lepus</i> spp.)	Ι	N	_	Beard et al. (2001a)
R			European brown hare (<i>Lepus</i> europaeus)	I	N	LC	Corn et al. (2005)
R			Mountain hare (Lepus timidus)	S	N	LC	Deutz et al. (2005)
R			Rabbit (Oryctolagus cuniculus)	S	E,N	NT	Greig et al. (1999)
R			Eastern cottonail (<i>Sylvilagus floridanus</i>)	Ι	N	LC	Corn et al. (2005)
R	Rodentia		Bank vole (<i>Clethrionomys</i> glareolus)	I	Ν	LC	Beard et al. (2001b)
R			Field vole (Microtus agrestis)	Ι	Ν	LC	
R			House mouse (Mus domesticus)	Ι	Ν	LC	
R			Mouse (not further specified) (<i>Mus</i> spp.)	S	E	_	Deutz et al. (2005)
R			Wood mouse (Apodemus sylvaticus)	Ι	N	LC	Beard et al. (2001a)
R			Yellow-necked mouse (Apademus flavicollis)	S	N	LC	Deutz et al. (2005)
R			Rat (<i>Rattus norvegicus</i>)	I	N	LC	Florou et al. (2008)
R			Hispid cotton rat (<i>Sigmodon hispidus</i>)	Ι	N	LC	Corn et al. (2005)
R			Norway rat (<i>Blarina brevicauda</i>)	Ι	N	LC	Corn et al. (2005)
R			Hamster (Mesocricetus spp.)	S	E	_	Larsen and Miller (1978)
R			Guinea pig (Cavia porcellus)	Ι	E	-	Merkal et al. (1982)
R	Artiodactyla	Bovidae	Water buffalo (Bubalis bubalis)	S	N	EN	Sivakumar et al. (2006)
R			Bison (<i>Bison bison</i>)	S	E,N	NT	Buergelt and Ginn (2000)
R			Alpine ibex (<i>Capra ibex</i>)	S	Ν	LC	Ferroglio et al. (2000)
R			Chamois (Rupicapra rupicapra)	S	N	LC	Deutz et al. (2005)
R			Yak (Bos grunniens)	S	N	NE	Geilhausen (2002)
R			Rocky mountain goat (Oreamos americanus)	S	N	NE	Williams et al. (1983)
R			Pygmy goat (Capra hircus)	S	E,N	NE	Ayele et al. (2001)
R			Dwarf goats (<i>Capra aegagrus hircus</i>)	S	N	NE	Manning et al. (2003)
R			Stone buck (<i>Capra aegagraus ibex</i>)	S	N	NE	Chiodini et al. (1984a)



F/R	Order	Family	Species	I,S	E/N ^(a)	IUCN ^(b)	Reference
R			Mouflon sheep (Ovis orientalis)	S	Ν	VU	Pribylova et al. (2011b)
R			Bighorn sheep (Ovis canadensis)	S	E,N	LC	Greig et al. (1999)
R			Aoudad (Barbary sheep) (Ammotragus lervia)	S	N	VU	Ayele et al. (2001)
R			Cameroon sheep (Ovis aries cameroon dwarf)	S	N	NE	
R			Antelope kudu (<i>Tragelaphus strepsiceros</i>)	S	N	LC	
R			Saiga antelope (Saiga tatarica)	S	N	CR	Dukes et al. (1992)
R		Camelidae	Bactrian camel (<i>Camelus</i> bacterianus)	S	N	CR	Ayele et al. (2001)
R			Dromedary camel (<i>Camelus dromedarius</i>)	S	N	-	Amand (1974)
R			Guanacos (<i>Lama guanicoe</i>)	Ι	N	LC	Salgado et al. (2009)
R		Cervidae	Fallow deer (Dama dama)	S	N	LC	Marco et al. (2002)
R			Red deer (Cervus elaphus)	S	E,N	LC	Tryland et al. (2004)
R			Roe deer (Capreolus capreolus)	S	N	LC	Tryland et al. (2004)
R			Sika deer (Cervus nippon)	Ι	N	LC	Ayele et al. (2001)
R			Axis deer (Axis axis)	Ι	Ν	LC	
R			Key deer (Odocoileus virginianus clavium)	S	N	NE	Quist et al. (2002)
R			Mule deer (<i>Odocoileus hemionus</i>)	S	E,N	LC	Williams et al. (1983)
R			Pudu (Pudu pudu)	Ι	N	—	Ayele et al. (2001)
R			White-tailed deer (<i>Odocoileus virginianus</i>)	S	E,N	LC	Williams et al. (1983)
R			Moose (Alces alces)	S	N	LC	Tryland et al. (2004)
R			Reindeer (Rangifer tarandus)	Ι	N	VU	Tryland et al. (2004)
R			Elk (Cervus canadensis)	S	N	NE	Ayele et al. (2001)
R			Tule elk (<i>Cervus elaphus nannodes</i>)	S	N	LC	
R			Rocky mountain elk (<i>Cervus</i> elaphus nelsoni)	S	E,N	_	Williams et al. (1983)
R		Suidae	Wild boar (Sus scrofa)	I	Ν	LC	Boadella et al. (2011)
R			Pigs (Sus spp.)	Ι	Е	_	
R	Didelphimorphia	Didelphidae	Opossum (<i>Didelphis virginiana</i>)	Ι	Ν	LC	Corn et al. (2005)
R	Cingulata	Dasypodinae	Armadillo (<i>Dasypus</i> novemcinctus)	I	N	LC	
R	Perissodactlya	Equidae	Pygmy ass (<i>Equus asinus</i> f. dom.)	S	Ν	_	Ayele et al. (2001)



F/R	Order	Family	Species	I,S	E/N ^(a)	IUCN ^(b)	Reference
R			Horses (Equus ferus caballus)	Ι	E	_	Larsen et al. (1972)
F			Mules (<i>Equus mule</i>)	S	E	_	Chiodini et al. (1984a)
R	Primates (Non-hu	ıman)	Mandrill (<i>Papio sphinx</i>)	S	Ν	_	Zwick et al. (2002)
R			Stumptail macaque (<i>Macaca arctoides</i>)	S	Ν	VU	McClure et al. (1987)
R			Common marmoset (<i>Callithrix jacchus</i>)	S	N	LC	Fechner et al. (2017)
R			Rhesus macaques (<i>Macaca mulatta</i>)	S	Ν	LC	Singh et al. (2011)
R			Cottontop tamarins (<i>Sanguinus oedipus</i>)	S	Ν	CR	Munster et al. (2013)
R			Black-and-white ruffed lemurs (Varecia variegata)	S	Ν	CR	Munster et al. (2013)
R	Oligochaeta	Lumbricidae	Earthworms (Lumbricus spp.)) I N –		Fischer et al. (2004)	

(a): Hines et al. (2007) provided an extensive review and proposed guidelines for experimental challenge models of MAP infection. (b): NE: not evaluated; LC: least concerned; NT: near threatened; VU: vulnerable; EN: endangered; CR: critically endangered. An explicit description of these terms can be found at: http://www.iucnredlist.org/about/introduction

Reservoir animal species

Wildlife and domestic species can serve as potential reservoirs since interspecies transmission has been documented. However, their potential role in the epidemiology of paratuberculosis depends on (i) whether paratuberculosis is endemic in a region or not (i.e. under endemic disease conditions within herd/flock transmission is the main way of disease persistence) and (ii) the husbandry type (i.e. whether systems allow for interface between domestic and wildlife carriers through, for example, co-grazing). Stevenson et al. (2009) genotyped 164 MAP isolates from seven European countries representing 19 different host species, and provided evidence of interspecies transmission between wildlife and domestic ruminants and among wildlife species, adding further support to the reservoir role of wildlife (Stevenson et al., 2009). Only ruminants (Bovidae, Cervidae) and lagomorphs show evidence of disease as determined by the presence of gross or microscopic lesions with associated acid fast bacteria, thus species have the capacity to excrete MAP and spread disease to other susceptible species primarily through further faecal contamination of the environment, so potentially, they could constitute wildlife reservoirs. By definition, to constitute a wildlife reservoir the infection would need to be sustained within the species population. Evidence is available for vertical and horizontal transmission within natural rabbit populations which could contribute to the maintenance of Map infections within such populations (Stevenson et al., 2009). Rabbits can also serve as a reservoir in the UK due to the high prevalence of MAP infection and the high excretion rates (Greig et al., 1999; Judge et al., 2006).

3.1.1.2. Article 7(a)(ii) The morbidity and mortality rates of the disease in animal populations

Morbidity

Parameter 1 – Prevalence/incidence

A recent review aiming to identify potential sources of MAP exposure for humans (Waddell et al., 2016) found 148 research papers on the prevalence and/or presence of MAP in farmed, pets and wild animals. Earlier, Nielsen and Toft (2009) summarised the prevalence of paratuberculosis for dairy cattle, sheep and goats in Europe. The latter authors concluded that, for each species, prevalence estimates at the animal level are not comparable. Indeed, the use of different tests among studies that targeted different conditions, lack of knowledge on the accuracy of the used diagnostic tests in several studies, differences in the source populations – and hence likely differences in the distribution of the various infections stages within these populations – and finally variable sampling designs and poor



reporting do not allow for a direct comparison of the prevalence estimates. An extensive list of the apparent and true prevalence estimates at the animal level is given in Tables 2, 3, 4 and 5. The apparent prevalence is defined as the number of test-positive among tested subjects, whereas the true prevalence is based on a conversion correcting the apparent prevalence for the diagnostic sensitivity and diagnostic specificity (Houe et al., 2004).

Recent work on the within herd dynamics of MAP infection in dairy cattle (Al-Mamun et al., 2016) assumed that latently infected animals progress to low shedders and low shedders to heavy shedders with a yearly incidence rate of 0.47 and 0.28, respectively (Van Schaik et al., 2003a). The proportion of calves infected at birth from latently infected, low-shedding and high-shedding animals is estimated to be 0.15 (Sweeney et al., 1992), 0.15 and 0.17 (Crossley et al., 2005), respectively. In another study, the proportion of infected cows with detectable MAP-specific IgG antibodies increased from 0.33, for cows 2 years of age, to 0.94 for cows 5 years of age (Nielsen et al., 2013). However, it should be noted that most of the aforementioned estimates depended on the opinion of experts due to the scarcity of valid data on the duration of the latent infection period. Studies that determine the age-specific proportion of detectable infected animals can be used to provide indirect estimates of the age-specific incidence rate for paratuberculosis and thus insight in the infection dynamics of MAP.

MAP prevalence in sheep worldwide is unknown as the disease is not notifiable in many countries and the study of MAP in species other than cattle has relatively low priority. However, prevalence varies between countries and geographical regions ranging from 2% to 32% of sheep flocks affected (Begg and Whittington, 2010). MAP has been diagnosed in sheep in the southern hemisphere in Australia, New Zealand and South Africa, and in the northern hemisphere in Great Britain, Norway, Austria, Greece, Spain, Portugal, Morocco and Jordan (Windsor, 2015).

In goats, MAP had been diagnosed in most goat rearing/farming countries including Austria, France, Portugal, Spain, Greece, Great Britain, Croatia, Norway, Switzerland, Turkey, South Africa, Australia New Zealand, Canada, the USA and Chile. The disease resembles that in sheep and it appears that prevalence may be increasing but prevalence estimates vary widely (Djønne, 2010; Windsor, 2015).

There have been a few isolated reports of paratuberculosis in deer prior to 1970, but since then it has been reported frequently in many countries in a range of deer species in the wild and in parks, zoos and enclosures. It has also been diagnosed on deer farms in the UK, Ireland, Denmark, Germany and Belgium, Hungary, Asia, Canada, the USA, Argentina, Australia and New Zealand. Serological surveillance for paratuberculosis on 627 of New Zealand's deer farms has been carried out since 2000, using blood samples submitted as part of the national tuberculosis eradication scheme indicate a national herd infection prevalence of approximately 63%. A non-random sample of 115 New Zealand deer herds of unknown infection status reported in 2006 that 43% had pooled faecal samples culture-positive for MAP (Mackintosh and Griffin, 2010). By passive surveillance, Mackintosh et al. (2004) estimated approximately 6% of herd prevalence of the infection in farmed deer in New Zealand (Mackintosh et al., 2004). MAP infection was identified in over 600 farms by the examination of suspect 'tuberculosis' lesions in deer slaughtered plants, thus the true prevalence is expected to be higher.

Concerning other ruminant species, paratuberculosis has been reported in riverine buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*) in India, where the prevalence of infection was over 40% in some populations, and in Italy with a low prevalence; it has also been reported widely in many populations of camels in Asia, the Middle East, Africa and the former Soviet Union. The disease appears to be uncommon in llamas but has been occasionally reported in alpacas in Australia, the UK and New Zealand (Mackintosh and Griffin, 2010).

Country	Region	Type of test	Ν	T +	AP (%)	TP (%)	Reference
Austria	All	ELISA	756	144	19.0	100.0	Dreier et al. (2006)
Austria	Four regions	ELISA	11,028	664	6.0	47.0	Gasteiner et al. (1999)
Belgium		ELISA	13,317	116	0.87 (0.71,1.03)	0.0	Boelaert et al. (2000)
France	Yonne	ELISA	8,793	292	3.3	22.0	Petit (2001)
Germany	Saxony	ELISA	3,454	151	4.4	31.0	Donat et al. (2005)

Table 2: Animals that tested positive (T+) of the animals tested (N), apparent (AP) and trueprevalence (TP) of MAP in cattle by region/country



Country	Region	Type of test	Ν	T +	AP (%)	TP (%)	Reference
Germany	Arnsberg	ELISA	536	79	14.7	98.0	Bottcher and Gangl (2004)
Germany	Arnsberg	Tissue culture	517	7	1.35		
Germany	Bavaria	ELISA	2,748	41	1.5	0.0	
Germany	Bavaria	ELISA	2,748	25	0.15	6.0	
Germany	Bavaria	ELISA	2,748	662	24.1	100.0	
Italy	Latium	ELISA	19,627	472	2.4	100.0	Lillini et al. (2005)
Italy	Lombardia	ELISA	38,478	982	2.55		Arrigoni et al. (2008)
Italy	Veneto	ELISA	27,135	949	3.5	17.0	Robbi et al. (2003)
Italy	Umbria	ELISA	788	44	5.6	9.7 (7.0; 12.4)	Cenci-Goga et al. (2010)
Norway		ELISA	9,456	728	7.7	83.0	Tharaldsen et al. (2003)
Rep. of Ireland	Imported	ELISA, Faecal culture	225 221	8 9	3.6 4.0	19.0	O'Doherty et al. (2002)
Slovenia	All	ELISA	11,513	47	0.41	0.0	Ocepek et al. (2002)
Slovenia	All	ELISA	12,082	140	1.16	0.0	
Slovenia	All	ELISA	38,469	1305	3.4	16	
Slovenia	All	ELISA	9,388	41	0.4	3.0	
Spain		ELISA	61,069	1374	2.53 (Dairy) 1.59 (Beef) 2.44 (Mixed) 2.25 (Total)	3.02 (Dairy) 2.07 (Beef) 3.84 (Mixed) 2.95 (Total)	Dieguez et al. (2007)
Sweden	All	Faecal culture	4,000	0	0.0	0.0	Sternberg and Viske (2003)
Switzerland	Plat. de Diesse	ELISA	565	29	5.1	30	Meylan et al. (1995)
Switzerland	All	ELISA	1,663	12	0.7	0.0	Stark et al. (1997)
Switzerland		F57 PCR	101	20	19.8		Bosshard et al. (2006)
The Netherlands	All	ELISA	15,822	400	2.5	2.0	Muskens et al. (2000)
Turkey		IS900 PCR	96	0	0.0		Ikiz et al. (2005)
Turkey	Elazig	IS900 PCR	500	25	5.0		Cetinkaya et al. (2000)
United Kingdom	SW England	IS900 PCR	1,297	46	3.5 (2.6; 4.7)		Cetinkaya et al. (1996)
United Kingdom	SW England	IS900 PCR of T+ from IS900 PCR	1,297	34	2.6 (1.8; 3.6)		
Brazil		ELISA	128	41	32		Ristow et al. (2007)
Brazil		Culture	24	10	41		
Canada	Nova Scotia	ELISA	814	27	3.3		Tiwari et al. (2006)
Canada	Prince Edward Island	ELISA	816	11	1.3		



Country	Region	Type of test	N	T +	AP (%)	TP (%)	Reference
Canada	New Brunswick	ELISA	804	23	2.9		
Canada	Ontario	ELISA	1,530	34	2.2		
Canada	Manitoba	ELISA	1,204	54	4.5		
Canada	Saskatchewan	ELISA	1,530	41	2.7		
Canada	Alberta	ELISA	1,500	105	7.0		
Canada	Alberta	Tissue culture	984	158	16.1		McKenna et al. (2004)
USA	Georgia	ELISA	637	61	9.58		Pence et al. (2003)
USA	Florida	ELISA	4,491	768	17.1		Braun et al. (1990)
USA	Wisconsin	ELISA	4,990	364	7.3	4.79	Collins et al. (1994)
USA	Michigan	ELISA	3,886	268	6.9		Johnson et al. (2001)
USA	20 States		31,745	794	2.5		Wells (1996)
Egypt		Faecal culture, PCR, Microscopic examination	160	75	50		Salem et al. (2005)

ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; PCR: polymerase chain reaction.

Table 3: Animals that tested positive (T+) of the animals tested (N), apparent (AP) and true prevalence (TP) of MAP in sheep by region/country

Country	Region	Test	N	T +	AP (%)	TP (%)	Reference
Austria	All	ELISA	169	1	0.6	0.0	Khol et al. (2006)
Austria	All	Tissue culture	169	1	0.6		
Cyprus		ELISA	3,429	340	9.9 (8.9; 10.9)	24.6	Liapi et al. (2011)
Norway	All	Faecal culture	369	1	0.3	0.0	Mork et al. (2003)

ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.

Table 4: Animals that tested positive (T+) of the animals tested (N), apparent (AP) and true prevalence (TP) of MAP in goats by region/country

Country	Region	Test	N	T +	AP (%)	TP (%)	Reference
Austria	All	Faecal/Tissue culture	80	0	0.0		Khol et al. (2006)
Austria	All	ELISA	80	0	0.0	0.0	
Cyprus		ELISA	4,582	362	7.9 (7.2; 8.7)	23.1	Liapi et al. (2011)
Greece		Milk ELISA	1,200			10.0	Angelidou et al. (2014)
Norway	All	Faecal culture	662	7	1.1	0.0	Mork et al. (2003)
Portugal	Lisbon	ELISA	2,351	41	1.7		Mendes et al. (2004)

ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.

Table 5: Animals that tested positive (T+) of the animals tested (N), apparent (AP) and trueprevalence (TP) of MAP in mixed sheep and goat flocks by region/country

Country	Region	Test	N	T+	AP (%)	TP (%)	Reference
Portugal	Lisbon	ELISA	2351	41	1.7		Mendes et al. (2004)
Slovenia	All	ELISA	12578	440	3.5		Ocepek et al. (2002)

ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.



Parameter 2 - Case-morbidity rate (% clinically diseased animals out of infected ones)

The case-morbidity rate is not known. Partly, it is not known if cure can take place or some animals are naturally resistant, partly the long incubation period makes assessment challenging while many infected animals are culled before a causative diagnosis is made, but culling is based on impact of the disease agent (e.g. reduced milk yield). Therefore, the case-morbidity rate considering the natural life of domestic animals can be higher than what can be observed in their production life.

At any point in time, it is believed that 50–70% of MAP infected animals are undetectable; a fraction referred to as the invisible part of the 'iceberg' (Whitlock and Buergelt, 1996). Recently, Schukken et al. (2015) in a long-term follow-up study, including of test negative apparently healthy dairy cows at routine slaughter, from three infected dairy farms demonstrated that the prevalence of positive samples was 1.4% for serological samples, 2.2% in faecal samples and 16.7% in tissue samples.

A common feature of mycobacterial infections is the long latent infection period. Under endemic disease conditions, most animals acquire MAP early in their life. Infected animals may not experience progression of the infection during their productive life because they are resistant or will be prematurely removed. Hence, animals in a herd can be: uninfected or potentially latently infected animals where infection will never evolve; latently infected where infection will evolve within their expected life-time; and animals where the infection is progressing with a predominant anti-inflammatory or humoral immune response (Nielsen, 2009).

Sheep, goats, deer and South American camelids presents with ill thrift and progressive chronic weight loss as the primary clinical sign of disease with poor production; affected animals may also display exercise intolerance and in only 10–20% of clinical cases will intermittent soft faeces, clumping of faces or even persistent diarrhoea be noted in the end stages of the disease although most sheep that die of Johne's disease (JD) have normal faecal pellets. In a study of 50 sheep with clinical JD, most were emaciated; half had normal faecal pellets; 30% had soft-formed faeces; and 20% had severe diarrhoea (Stehman, 1996; Smith, 1998; Begg and Whittington, 2010; Windsor, 2015).

The disease in camels may have a more rapid course than in cattle, with death occurring after 4–6 weeks' illness. In Bactrian camels, the disease was most severe in 3–5-year-old animals. Clinical disease has occurred in 12–24-month-old alpacas as well as in adults, with signs of diarrhoea, weight loss and hypoproteinaemia. As with other species, necropsy showed emaciation, thickened intestines and enlarged mesenteric lymph nodes (Mackintosh and Griffin, 2010).

The pathogenesis of MAP infection in cervids is different from that in other ruminant species. Deer appear to be highly susceptible to MAP infection and show clinical evidence of disease and severe pathology at an earlier age than other ruminants. Clinical disease has been reported in fawns and yearlings of white-tailed deer, sika and fallow deer, red deer and North American elk. In spite of this, only a small proportion of deer exposed to MAP develop clinical disease (Mackintosh and Griffin, 2010). MAP infection in deer causes long standing infection and minimal mortality (Mackintosh et al., 2004). In farmed deer, two clinical syndromes of JD have been recognised: sporadic cases occurring in mixed-age class with yearly incidence of 1-3%, usually low morbidity (< 1%) and high mortality (~ 100%); and outbreaks involving young deer (8–15 months of age) up to 20% of a group with a clinical progression to emaciation and death in few weeks. However the prevalence of subclinical MAP infection is not known in farmed deer, but up to 10% of apparently healthy deer from infected farms had macroscopic evidence of infection at slaughter thus is highly probable that the prevalence is much higher and many subclinical infected deer do not report any macroscopic evidence of infection (Mackintosh et al., 2004).

Mortality

Parameter 3 – Case-fatality rate

There is scarcity of valid estimates on the true mortality rate due to the long latent infection period, the absence of sensitive tests and hence our inability to estimate the true prevalence of infection (and therefore the denominator of mortality and other rates). A study conducted on 12 sheep farms in New South Wales, Australia identified the disease mortality rate in 2003 as 8% (Windsor, 2015). Most affected goats, if not culled, go into stage four and develop advanced clinical disease, leading to death (Djønne, 2010). The disease in camels may have a more rapid course than in cattle, with death occurring after 4–6 weeks' illness (Djønne, 2010; Mackintosh and Griffin, 2010).

3.1.1.3. Article 7(a)(iii) The zoonotic character of the disease

Presence

Parameter 1 – Report of zoonotic human cases (anywhere)

The human implications of paratuberculosis depend on the resolution of the question on whether MAP is involved in the aetiology of CD. Existing results are consistent with two possibilities: (i) MAP infection could be the cause of Crohn's in patients who are selectively exposed to this organism or genetically susceptible or (ii) MAP, which is a relatively common dietary organism, may selectively colonise the ulcerated mucosa of CD patients but it does not initiate or perpetuate intestinal inflammation (Naser et al., 2004).

Initially, similarities were noted between chronic idiopathic granulomatous ileocolitis (i.e. the clinical syndrome now called CD) and mycobacterial infections (Crohn et al., 1932). Interest on MAP as a possible cause for Crohn's revived with the culture of MAP from patients with CD (Chiodini et al., 1984b) and intensified after the detection of IS900, the MAP-specific DNA insertion sequence, in relatively high numbers of patients with CD relative to patients with ulcerative colitis and normal controls (Sanderson et al., 1992). Ever since, many studies have been carried out to assess the potential role of MAP in the aetiology of CD. Higher probability of MAP has been reported in patients with CD. However, MAP has also been reported from non-inflammatory bowel disease controls (Mendoza et al., 2010) while others have been unable to detect MAP in the blood of Crohn's patients (Parrish et al., 2009). Effective treatment of Crohn's patients with antimycobacterial drugs has been reported in some studies (Borody et al., 2007), while others cannot find an effect in randomised clinical trials with similar antimicrobials (Selby et al., 2007).

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 28 case–control studies comparing MAP in patients with CD with individuals free of inflammatory bowel disease or patients with ulcerative colitis found a specific association of MAP with CD (Feller et al., 2007). Another meta-analysis of studies using nucleic acid-based techniques to detect MAP in patients with CD confirmed that MAP was detected more frequently from patients with CD compared to those with ulcerative colitis (Abubakar et al., 2008). Both studies concluded that though association between MAP and CD is established, further studies are required to determine its pathogenic role. In consistence with these, a recent meta-analysis (Waddell et al., 2015) appraised the available research (128 papers) on the zoonotic potential of MAP and confirmed a significant positive association for CD (odds ratio range 4.3–8.4). The latter authors also concluded that knowledge gaps exist and therefore current evidence is not sufficient to establish a causal path.

MAP has also been related to an increasing number of diseases: Blau syndrome (Dow and Ellingson, 2010), type 1 diabetes (Sechi et al., 2008; Rosu et al., 2009; Cossu et al., 2011a), Hashimoto thyroiditis (Sisto et al., 2010; Pinna et al., 2014) and multiple sclerosis (Cossu et al., 2011b; Sechi and Dow, 2015). However, in these cases, the so far circumstantial isolation of MAP does not add to the zoonotic potential of MAP. It rather supports the hypotheses that these diseases favour survival and opportunistic growth of MAP in the human gut.

Although a causal link between MAP and CD has not yet been proven concerns are being expressed and, for example, the UK Food Standards Agency has appealed for strategies to further minimise human exposure to MAP (Rubery, 2001), in addition the finding of Viable MAP in powdered infant formula (Botsaris et al., 2016) is worrying.

3.1.1.4. Article 7(a)(iv) The resistance to treatments, including antimicrobial resistance

Parameter 1 – Resistant strain to any treatment even at laboratory level

Antibiotic treatment is not practiced in MAP-infected animals because it is not cost effective. It could be an option, as a means to forestall progression of infection, for selected animals of high genetic value, exceptional production or sport and pet animals.

Susceptibility testing of MAP to 11 antimicrobial drugs *in vitro* revealed that the organism is most susceptible to macrolides, while first-line antituberculosis (ethambutol and isoniazid) or antileprosy drugs (dapsone and clofazimine) are not effective with the exception of the rifampicin family (Krishnan et al., 2009). Gallium nitrate also has *in vitro* activity against MAP isolates (Fecteau et al., 2011). However, *in vitro* drug susceptibility often fails to predict the *in vivo* efficacy of treatments (Griffith, 2007). Drugs that have been used to treat MAP infections are isoniazid, clofazimine (St Jean, 1996) and the most promising appears to be monensin (Brumbaugh et al., 2000).



3.1.1.5. Article 7(a)(v) The persistence of the disease in an animal population or the environment

Animal population

Within infected herds/flocks, animals are exposed to and acquire MAP infection early in their life. Young animals are more susceptible to infection and susceptibility decreases with age (Kostoulas et al., 2010). For example, calves are more susceptible in the first year of their life (Mortier et al., 2015). The majority of infected animals in a herd will be in the early infection stages and the proportion of animals that can be detected by diagnostic tests seriously underestimate the prevalence of infection in the herd (i.e. the 'tip of the iceberg' (Whitlock and Buergelt, 1996)). The disease is more insidious in small ruminant flocks/herds, than in bovine herds with the incubation period being usually at least 1 year. Faecal shedding usually precedes clinical signs with the age of onset of faecal shedding and clinical disease varying with the dose, age at infection, and herd management factors. The typical range for clinical disease is 2–7 years of age; however, in some heavily infected goat and deer herds clinical infection and faecal shedding occur as early as 1 year of age. However, regardless the host species the true morbidity and mortality rates are rarely reported because the exact duration of the latent infection period, the infectious period and the time that MAP can persist in healthy carriers have not been quantified.

Environment

Parameter 4 – Length of survival (dpi) of the agent and/or detection of DNA in selected matrices (soil, water, air) from the environment (scenarios: high and low T)

Sparse information exists on the survival of MAP in the environment but it is clear that MAP can survive in the environment for a long time as it has been shown in studies investigating its survival and the levels of contamination in and around ruminant farms (Waddell et al., 2016). Protected from sunlight – MAP like all mycobacteria is sensitive to ultraviolet light (sunlight) – it survived for up to 55 weeks in a dry fully shaded environment. Water and sediment behind dams prolongs survival times while dry soil, changes in ambient temperature, pH < 7.0, high ammonia levels and low iron contents shortens its survival (Whittington et al., 2004, 2005). If vegetation is removed and shading is limited, then survival is reduced to a few weeks (Eppleston et al., 2014). Water reservoirs may play significant role in MAP infection on farms (Singh et al., 2013). Animals raised in rich organic soil pose a higher probability of acquiring the infection from the environment probably due to the adsorption of MAP to clay content (Dhand et al., 2009).

3.1.1.6. Article 7(a)(vi) The routes and speed of transmission of the disease between animals, and, when relevant, between animals and humans

Routes of transmission

Parameter 1 – Types of routes of transmission from animal to animal (horizontal, vertical)

The primary route of transmission is the faecal–oral route (Sweeney, 1996). Faecal contamination of the udder or the calving environment is a main risk factor for neonatal infection (Collins et al., 1994). MAP can be also excreted in milk/colostrum (Streeter et al., 1995) and shedding depends on the severity of MAP infection and lactation stage with higher risk observed in early than mid or late lactation (Stabel, 2008). *In utero* transmission can also occur and the risk increases with infection stage (Whittington and Windsor, 2009). MAP can also be excreted in semen but data on transmission via semen are sparse (Ayele et al., 2004). Transmission is considered to occur primarily from cows to calves, which are considered most susceptible. Calf-to-calf transmission has been described (van Roermund et al., 2007), and cow-to-cow transmission may take place but remains mainly undetected because delayed exposure results in lower incidence of detectable cases (Espejo et al., 2013). *In utero* infections occur in cattle (Sweeney et al., 1992; Whittington and Windsor, 2009) and have been reported in goats as well (Stehman, 1996). A study by Van Kooten et al. (2006) showed that 90% of clinically affected deer had an infected fetus.

Cross-species transmission exists with different strains of MAP showing preference to different hosts: type I or S strains are predominantly isolated from sheep and less commonly from deer and cattle, type II or C strains have a broad host range but frequently infect cattle, goats and deer and less commonly sheep. Finally, type III strains represent an intermediate type and are predominantly



isolated from sheep and goats (Stevenson, 2015). Cross species transmission between wild and domestic ruminants has also been indicated (Fritsch et al., 2012).

Parameter 2 – Types of routes of transmission between animals and humans (direct, indirect, including food-borne)

If MAP is transmitted to humans, the transmission may occur via ineffectively pasteurised milk (O'Reilly et al., 2004), beef (Alonso-Hearn et al., 2009) or water (Pickup et al., 2005, 2006; Beumer et al., 2010; Rhodes et al., 2014). The overall prevalence in beef is deemed to be low (Okura et al., 2010), but reduction due to cooking has not been extensively studied. One study estimated that long cooking times are required for more than two log₁₀ bacterial reductions (Hammer et al., 2013). The concentrations in milk are most often considered to be within reach of pasteurisation. However, experimental studies indicate that if large numbers of MAP are present in milk the organism may not be completely inactivated through pasteurisation and viable MAP has been found in retail pasteurised milk (Carvalho et al., 2012). A systematic review of the contamination of food products concluded that pasteurised milk is not always MAP free, and it cannot be ruled out that meat and meat products contain MAP (Eltholth et al., 2009). Survival of MAP has also been documented in yoghurt after artificial inoculation of pasteurised milk (Van Brandt et al., 2011). If MAP is confirmed as a zoonotic pathogen, further studies are required to better characterise the routes of transmission to humans.

Speed of transmission

Due to the poor sensitivity of the tests during the long latent period, there is a scarcity of studies aiming to quantify the within herd dynamics of MAP infection. van Roermund et al. (2007) reported transmission rates of 2.7 [1.1, 6.6] new calf infections per infectious cow, and 0.9 [0.1, 3.2] new infections per infectious calf. However, their experimental setting did not mimic a modern dairy farm and results cannot be directly extrapolated to other conditions.

3.1.1.7. Article 7(a)(vii) The absence or presence and distribution of the disease in the Union, and, where the disease is not present in the Union, the risk of its introduction into the Union

Presence and distribution

Parameter 2 – Type of epidemiological occurrence (sporadic, epidemic, endemic) at MS level

The presence of MAP infection has been reported in most Member States (MS). Specifically, MAP has been reported in Austria (Dreier et al., 2006), Belgium (Boelaert et al., 2000), Bulgaria (Kuiumdzhiev, 1950), Croatia (Cvetnic et al., 2012), Cyprus (Liapi et al., 2011), the Czech Republic (Pavlík et al., 1994), Denmark (Nielsen and Toft, 2014), Estonia (Nielsen and Toft, 2009) Finland (Kulkas, 2007), France (Marce et al., 2011), Germany (Donat et al., 2016), Greece (Angelidou et al., 2014), Hungary (Ronal et al., 2015), Ireland (Kennedy et al., 2016), Italy (Cenci-Goga et al., 2010), Lithuania (Nielsen and Toft, 2009), Luxembourg (Fernandez-Silva et al., 2012), the Netherlands (Muskens et al., 2003), Poland (Szteyn and Wiszniewska-Laszczych, 2012), Portugal (Mendes et al., 2004), Slovakia (Mucha et al., 2009), Slovenia (Ocepek et al., 2002), Spain (Dieguez et al., 2009), Sweden (Frossling et al., 2013) and the UK (Woodbine et al., 2009). No data exist for Latvia, Malta and Romania. Reports among the MS are not comparable due to the variation in the type of studies and in the diagnostics used for MAP detection (see Section 3.1.1.2).

Nielsen and Toft (2009) summarised the prevalence of paratuberculosis for dairy cattle, sheep and goats in Europe (Nielsen and Toft, 2009). The true within-herd prevalence in cattle may be 20% and was at least 3–5% in several member states. Herd-level prevalence was probably \geq 50%. Valid prevalence estimates are scarce for sheep or goats. An extensive study in Cyprus estimated that there was at least one infected sheep in 60.8% (95% CI: 42.3; 78.8%) and at least one infected goat in 48.6% (30.4; 68.5%) of the flocks. Within infected flocks, the true prevalence of MAP infection was estimated at 24.6% (16.3; 33.3%) and 23.1% (15.5; 33.6%) in sheep and goats, respectively (Liapi et al., 2011). A study on the seroprevalence of MAP in central Italy revealed that 73.7% of the sheep flocks had at least one seropositive animal and the mean seroprevalence was 6.29% (Anna Rita et al., 2011). A flock-level prevalence of 63% and a mean within-flock prevalence of 6.6% was found in French goats (Mercier et al., 2010).

There are not sufficient data to prove disease freedom or near-zero prevalence in any member state. Some countries such as Sweden may have a low prevalence in cattle, but claims to support



disease freedom (Frossling et al., 2013) are not based on sampling and testing schemes designed and carried out to prove disease freedom.

3.1.1.8. Article 7(a)(viii) The existence of diagnostic and disease control tools

Control tools

Parameter 2 – Existence of control tools

Tests for paratuberculosis can be divided in those that detect the organism and those that assess the host response to MAP infection. An extensive description of these is in Section 3.1.4.1, and Tables 6, 7 and 8 below. Available diagnostic tests are of imperfect sensitivity and specificity (although the latter is often close to 100%). The sensitivity of most of the tests is poor at the early infection stages and increases with disease progression (Nielsen and Toft, 2008). Nonetheless, such tests can and have been used for disease control. Currently, available control strategies include management interventions to improve calf hygiene, test and cull strategies and vaccination (Al-Mamun et al., 2016). The first two of them require long and dedicated efforts from the dairy producers (Groenendaal et al., 2015) and if combined exhibit a synergistic effect. An extensive description of available control tools is provided in Section 3.1.4 below.

3.1.2. Article 7(b) The impact of diseases

3.1.2.1. Article 7(b)(i) The impact of the disease on agricultural and aquaculture production and other parts of the economy

The level of presence of the disease in the Union

Parameter 1 – Number of MSs where the disease is present

Paratuberculosis is present in most of the member states. The reporting of the prevalence studies that have been carried out is poor leading to estimates that are not comparable (Nielsen and Toft, 2009). An extensive list of the prevalence estimates, either apparent or true is given in Tables 2–5 and is discussed in detail in Section 3.1.1.2 Parameter 1. Additional information on the presence of MAP in the MSs is reported in Section 3.1.1.7.

The loss of production due to the disease

Parameter 2 - Proportion of production losses (%) by epidemic/endemic situation

Paratuberculosis has major consequences in the subclinically infected and, especially, the clinically affected animals, leading to decreased and suboptimal productive life due to reduced milk yield (Lombard, 2011), body weight and slaughter value (Hutchinson, 1996), fertility (Johnson-Ifearulundu et al., 2000; Kostoulas et al., 2006a; Marce et al., 2009) and, thus, increased rate of premature voluntary culling. In many species, lowered age of onset linked with increased prevalence and the loss of young animals increases the overall cost of paratuberculosis (Smith, 1998). When considering the cost of MAP infection, it is important to point out that typical 'losses' are in the form of potential or unrealised revenue which are easier for producers with high prevalence herds selling cattle with actual disease to see than for producers with low prevalence herds or culling animals for reasons not being attributed to the presence of paratuberculosis. MAP-infected cattle have been shown to be at twice the risk of being culled compared with uninfected herd mates even when producers were not aware of their infection status (Lombard, 2011).

In two MAP-affected dairy herds (a total of 1048 cows), faecal culture positive cows produced \$276 less in milk income per lactation than cows that were faecal culture negative and were 3.0 (1.6–5.8) times more likely to be culled than faecal culture negative cows (Raizman et al., 2007). A recent meta-analysis (McAloon et al., 2016) of studies on the impact of MAP on milk productivity provided a pooled estimate of 5.9% reduction in the milk yield associated with faecal culture or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) positivity. Interestingly, milk production can initially be higher in infected animals before it slowly decreases (Nielsen et al., 2009) and cows have been found to produce more milk before their first positive test when compared to their negative herd mates (Smith et al., 2016). Nielsen et al. (2009) found that MAP associated milk-losses depended on the ELISA profile of dairy cattle as defined through repeated testing and proposed that repetitive testing schemes, combined with milking records, can be a useful management tool for the early identification of animals that experience or are likely to experience milk loss, in the near future (Nielsen et al., 2009).

The stage of MAP infection influences the impact on body weight and slaughter value. Kudahl and Nielsen (2009) directly assessed the slaughter value paid to the farmers for carcases with different combinations of test result and anatomopathological information. They estimated that the slaughter weight was reduced by 5–15% depending on the stage of infection. Lower quality further reduced carcass value: cows with MAP antibodies and MAP detected in faeces had a reduction of 17% in slaughter value. If they also had enteritis and oedema, the slaughter value was reduced by another 31% (i.e. an almost 50% reduction in the slaughter value). Benedictus et al. (1987) estimated the lost value at slaughter to 25–30% in animals with clinical disease. Raizman et al. (2009) recorded total losses of \$441 in two dairies (1,048 cows) in culled culture-positive compared to cultured-negative cows with most of this loss being associated with premature culling and reduced beef value.

In the European Union (EU) (the UK), Pritchard et al. (2017) while using ELISA tests in a paratuberculosis control programme, and positive results for MAP in their lifetime as the basis for paratuberculosis infection risk allocation, demonstrated milk yield losses associated with high-risk (HR) cows compared with low-risk (LR) cows in lactations 1, 2 and 3 for mean daily yield of 0.34, 1.05, and 1.61 kg; and accumulated 305-day yields of 103, 316 and 485 kg, respectively. The total loss was 904 kg over the first three lactations. Protein and fat yield losses were likewise significant, but primarily a feature of decreasing milk yield. They observed similar trends for both test-day and lactation-average somatic cell count measures with higher somatic cell counts from medium- and high-risk cows compared with LR cows, and differences were in almost all cases significant. Likewise, mastitis incidence was significantly higher in HR cows compared with LR cows in lactations 2 and 3. They noted that they expected their results to be conservative, as some animals that were considered negative could have become positive after the timeframe of the study, particularly if the animal was tested when relatively young and that test positive cows and/or the worst-affected animals would be culled as part of the paratuberculosis control programme. Results from this study indicate that HR cows were associated with detrimental effects on both production and health.

Estimates on the total annual cost per cow vary from 22 USD\$ (Ott et al., 1999) to 49 CDN\$ (Chi et al., 2002; Tiwari et al., 2008).

Other losses that have not been quantified may occur under the radar. International trade restrictions based on requirements for commodities, such as beef and milk, to originate from animals free of 'Paratuberculosis' occur, but their extent has not yet been described. Similarly, international livestock trade is also subject to trade restrictions which have not been characterised. For example, Japan banned live animal imports from Australia in 2016. However, official trade restrictions on infected herds within Australia has not been found to be helpful in endemically infected areas because of increased economic and social impact on herds classified as infected. These restrictions are now being actively removed from the Australian programme and replaced by transparent risk-based trading supported by an appropriate herd classification system (Geraghty et al., 2014).

Supporting the expectation that cows infected with MAP have a weakened immune system and therefore are more susceptible to udder infections McNab et al. (1991) and Baptista et al. (2008) have found significant positive associations between SCC and paratuberculosis infection, Dieguez et al. (2008) reported, higher mastitis incidences and Arrazuria et al. (2014) higher culling due to mastitis in MAP affected herds when compared with negative herds (McNab et al., 1991; Baptista et al., 2008; Dieguez et al., 2008; Arrazuria et al., 2014). Also, in animals followed to slaughter, Merkal et al. (1975) observed that culling due to mastitis was greater in animals with subclinical paratuberculosis (22.6%) compared with cows negative for paratuberculosis (3.6%) (Merkal et al., 1975). Other studies have also been reported where paratuberculosis has been associated with reduced lifetime production due to early culling of animals with and without obvious signs (Benedictus et al., 1987; Hutchinson, 1996; Lombard, 2011).

In sheep and goats, progression of *M. avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* infection to clinical paratuberculosis can result in profound weight loss, premature culling and death, with losses approaching 20% per annum in some sheep flocks in Australia. Negative effects on fertility have additionally been reported in dairy sheep. Evidence from pathological studies on 12 farms in New South Wales, Australia, demonstrated that losses from the disease were significant and could be differentiated from other causes of on-farm mortality. That study identified the disease mortality rate in 2003 on the 12 farms as 8%, resulting in an average reduction in annual income of AU\$ 13,715 per farm, due to an average decrease in gross margin of 8.5% per farm (Windsor, 2015). Economic losses of 6.4–8.5% in the gross income margin have been recorded on farms where ovine JD mortality ranged from 6.2% to 7.8% (Bush et al., 2006).



There is limited summary information about the financial impact in the EU. However, if the prevalence of infected animals with infection that will progress to disease is approximately 5% on average, and all infected dairy cattle have an average 10% reduction in the last lactation (irrespective of breed and lactation), and there are 23,400,000 dairy cattle in the EU producing 168,000,000,000 kg milk/year, i.e. 7,200 kg milk per cow per year, then reduced milk production compared to potential is 36 kg milk per cow per year, or 840,000,000 kg milk per year. With an average 33 EUR/100 L of milk, this equals approximately €277M/year. Lost milk yield may account for half of the total costs, which would then be more than €500M for the union per year. This estimate does not include the value of greenhouse gases (GHG). For example, eradication of MAP from Scotland has been estimated to reduce the amount of GHG from agriculture by 1% (reduction of 6,900 kt CO2 equivalents by 44 ktCO2 equivalents) (Stott et al., 2010). The estimate does not include the impact on other sectors such as beef cattle, sheep and goat farming.

3.1.2.2. Article 7(b)(ii) The impact of the disease on human health

Transmissibility between animals and humans

MAP is not confirmed as a zoonotic agent. However, it equally has not been confirmed that MAP is not a zoonotic agent. Golan et al. (2009) using zenographs of human foetal gut onto SCID mice have demonstrated that MAP actively invades the human gut epithelial goblet cells of the small intestine, inducing severe tissue damage and inflammation. These observations indicate that MAP can specifically colonise the normal human small intestine and can elicit inflammation and severe mucosal damage.

MAP has been extensively investigated as a potential cause of CD in humans.

If confirmed, the most likely routes are consumption of MAP through contaminated milk and beef. An extensive discussion on the potential zoonotic aspects of MAP, as well as the sources of human exposure to MAP is given in Sections 3.1.1.3 Parameter 1 and 3.1.1.6 Parameter 2.

Transmissibility between humans

It is not confirmed that MAP is a zoonotic agent, thus any transmission between humans has therefore not been characterised.

The severity of human forms of the disease

Parameter 5 - Disability-adjusted life year (DALY)

The potential consequences on human health if MAP would be confirmed as the causal agent of CD are explained below.

CD and ulcerative colitis are the two main components of inflammatory bowel disease. It is a relapsing lifelong inflammatory disease that can affect the entire gastrointestinal tract and frequently presents with abdominal pain, fever and clinical signs of bowel obstruction or diarrhoea with passage of blood or mucus, or both. Genetic predisposition to the disease has been confirmed. A series of environmental factors has been implicated in the epidemiology of CD, less women breastfeeding, improved domestic hygiene and sanitation, availability and quality of (hot) tap water, exposure to air pollution, consumption of a western diet and increased tobacco use. The latter has been extensively studied and both active and passive smoking especially if adopted early (even in childhood) significantly increases the risk of developing the disorder (Baumgart and Sandborn, 2012). The highest annual incidence of CD in Europe has been estimated to 12.7 per 100.000 person-years (Molodecky et al., 2012).

Current European consensus reached by European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation (in 2004 and revised in 2008) lists three forms of active disease: mild, moderate and severe (Dignass et al., 2010). There is no single standard for diagnosis, but the forms are often characterised by the course of the disease following different forms of treatment, including steroid therapy. The diagnostic process, however, is long and complex including many steps. Currently, the Montreal Classification scheme is advocated, which summarised recent developments in disease classification and established an integrated clinical, molecular, and serological classification of inflammatory bowel disease (Satsangi et al., 2006).



The availability of effective prevention or medical treatment in humans

Parameter 6 – Availability of medical treatment and their effectiveness (therapeutic effect and any resistance)

The aetiology of CD is not known yet and consequently prevention is a challenge and treatment is mostly palliative. ECCO guidelines for management of CD are given in detail in Dignass et al. (2010), where management is recommended to be course specific.

Dignass et al. (2010) do not mention MAP, but if MAP is a cause in some cases of CD, then antimycobacterial treatment can be of interest. While MAP is generally excluded as a cause by the gastroenterology society, few studies have been conducted to assess the efficacy of antimycobacterials. Borody et al. (2007) reported effective treatment of CD using rifabutin, clofazimine and clarithromycin for a time period from 6 months to 9 years. On the other hand, Selby et al. (2007) conducted a randomised clinical trial with the same drugs (but in different concentrations) for 2 years and had a similar relapse in the CD group as in the placebo group. Still, active research is ongoing on this aspect as some recent publications would indicate (Atreya et al., 2014; Liverani et al., 2014; Naser et al., 2014; Kuenstner et al., 2015; McNees et al., 2015; Abegunde et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2016; Davis et al., 2017).

3.1.2.3. Article 7(b)(iii) The impact of the disease on animal welfare

Parameter 1 – Severity of clinical signs at case level and related level and duration of impairment

Welfare is impaired; in the subclinical phase by reduced immune competence increasing susceptibility to a range of conditions and especially in the late phases of infection (months to years after infection), when constant or intermittent diarrhoea develops accompanied by weight loss. Diarrhoea usually becomes gradually more severe and may lead to emaciation and death. Increased production loss and/or onset of clinical disease leads to premature culling. In GB, cattle sector organisations have identified paratuberculosis as one of the top ten cattle health and welfare issues (CHAWG, 2012).

3.1.2.4. Article 7(b)(iv) The impact of the disease on biodiversity and the environment

Biodiversity

There are no reports of the impact of MAP infection on biodiversity. MAP infection has been reported in endangered species (Table 1). There are no studies on the MAP-associated mortality in these species.

Environment

Parameter 3 – Capacity of the pathogen to persist in the environment and cause mortality in wildlife

MAP is rarely reported outside the farming environment though it has been detected also elsewhere, e.g. drinking water, domestic water tanks, domestic sewage treatment works and domestic showers (Pickup et al., 2005, 2006; Whan et al., 2005; Beumer et al., 2010; Rhodes et al., 2014).

3.1.3. Article 7(c) Its potential to generate a crisis situation and its potential use in bioterrorism

MAP infection has a long latent infection period and consequently is not likely to be used for bioterrorism. Hence its absence from international bioterrorism lists such as the Bioterrorism Agents/Diseases list of the CDC (2017) and the Encyclopaedia of Bioterrorism Defense of Australia Group (Katz and Zilinskas, 2011). Further, it is not included in the Centre for Food Security and Public Health (CFSPH) list of zoonotic pathogens (CFSPH, 2017).

3.1.4. Article 7(d) The feasibility, availability and effectiveness of the following disease prevention and control measures

Successful control of MAP infection has been strongly impeded by the lack of sensitive diagnostic tests that would correctly identify infected animals at the early infection stages, repeated testing schemes, however, can be used to improve the overall discriminatory power of the diagnostic process (Nielsen and Toft, 2007).



Available control strategies include management practices to improve calf hygiene, test-and-cull strategies and vaccination. A combination of the first two effectively reduces the prevalence of MAP infection (Nielsen and Toft, 2011) but it requires long commitment from the dairy farmers. For example, the Danish control programme is based on the early identification and removal of MAP shedders through repeated milk-ELISA testing, which is used to categorise the animals into (i) cows that should be culled before calving or (ii) can be kept but should calve in isolation and (iii) cows in low-risk of shedding MAP. Clearly, repeated testing schemes aim to closely monitor the course of MAP infection and, in this way, increase the diagnostic value of existing tests. On the other hand, vaccination requires less effort and field studies have demonstrated that it effectively reduces faecal shedding (Knust et al., 2013) but restrictions on its use apply mainly due to the fact that vaccination interferes with the testing for of bovine tuberculosis. Hence, the overall benefits of vaccination depend on the level of cross reactivity (Groenendaal et al., 2015). Vaccination has been shown to provide effective disease control in Australia (Windsor et al., 2014) and, while it does not prevent infection or shedding of MAP, it underpins the national control programme for ovine paratuberculosis along with a risk-based trading system. MAP can be effectively controlled by for example risk-based measures to reduce the within-herd spread of MAP (Nielsen and Toft, 2011; Verdugo et al., 2015). Measures to reduce between-herd spread of MAP is still challenging, but can be established if historical test-information at the herd-level is combined with animal-level information (Sergeant et al., 2008; More et al., 2013).

3.1.4.1. Article 7(d)(i) Diagnostic tools and capacities

Availability

Parameter 1 – Officially/internationally recognised diagnostic tool, OIE certified

Available ante-mortem diagnostic tests for paratuberculosis can be divided into those that detect MAP and those that assess the immune response of the host. The first category includes faecal smears, culture and PCR tests. The second category includes antibody response (immunoglobulin G (IgG)) to MAP, delayed type hypersensitivity reaction, lymphocyte proliferation and increased cytokine (interferon gamma (IFN- γ)) production. So far none of the available tests have been certified by the OIE (2015).

The lack of affordable, sensitive, ante-mortem diagnostic tests at the early stages of MAP infection is a major obstacle in the control of paratuberculosis. However, the accuracy of existing tests is improved with testing and/or interpretation of individual tests at the herd-level though, in this case, its usefulness diminishes with lowering within-herd prevalence (Nielsen, 2014).

Feasibility

Parameter 3 – Type of sample matrix to be tested (blood, tissue, etc.)

The sensitivity and specificity of existing, commonly used diagnostic tests for paratuberculosis are given in Tables 6, 7 and 8. However, these estimates are not comparable as they are based on different reference standard methods and were carried out in different populations with likely differences in the distribution of the various infection stages. Sensitivity and specificity estimates are given separately for cattle, sheep and goats because differences exist between species in the immune response (Kostoulas et al., 2006b; Verna et al., 2007), the strain distribution and, hence, the infection stages and the associated test performance.

From a control point of view, prior to the evaluation and subsequent use of diagnostic tests, it is important to establish the target condition (Nielsen and Toft, 2008), which reflects the underlying MAP status being detected (affected, infectious or infected cows or herds). Effectiveness is related to the purpose, and few studies have assessed the effectiveness of diagnostic tests for control and disease prevention. Most studies have been based on simulation models, which suggest that a combination of test-and-cull and test-and-management is a requirement (Groenendaal et al., 2003; Kudahl et al., 2007). A test-and-management, test-and-cull combination has also been effective to reduce the prevalence in a smaller intervention study in the USA (Collins et al., 2010), while a large-scale Danish study also suggested that test-and-cull might be efficient (Nielsen and Toft, 2011). However, in the latter study, the effect of biosecurity measures may have been different than what had been reported by farmers. Nonetheless, it is possible to significantly reduce the prevalence, and also remove infection from individual herds (Verdugo et al., 2015).



Test Category	Diagnostic Test	Products	Se (%)	Sp (%)	Infection stage	Reference
Humoral immune	Serum ELISA	IDEXX HerdChek Parachek	Moderate High	High	Affected	Nielsen and Toft (2008)
response		Pourquier Svanova Various	Low Moderate	High Moderate	Infectious	
			Low	High	Infected	
	Milk ELISA	Antel Various	29–61	83–100	Infectious Infected	Nielsen et al. (2002); Klausen et al. (2003); Hendrick et al. (2005)
Cell- mediated immunity	DTH (delayed type hypersensitivity)	Johnin testing	Not determined	High (>90)	Infected	Kalis et al. (2002)
	IFN-γ	CSL algorithm (Bovigam)	13–85	66.1 (63.3–68.8, 95% CI)	Infectious Infected	Kalis et al. (2003); Nielsen and Toft (2008)
		IDEXX algorithm		67.0 (64.1–69.7, 95% CI)		
		New algorithm		93.6 (92.0–95.0, 95% CI)		
Direct	Smears (acid-fast bacilli)	ZN staining (Ziehl-Nielsen)	49.0 (low)	High	Affected	Zimmer et al. (1999)
	Conventional culture	HEYM TREK	Low Moderate	High (~100)	Infected	Whitlock et al. (2000); McKenna et al. (2005)
		HEYM	74 (65–82, 95% CI)	High (~100)	Infectious	Sockett et al. (1992)
		HEYM	70 (56–81, 95% CI)	High (~100)	Affected	Egan et al. (1999)
	Radiometric culture	BACTEC	Moderate	High	Infected affected	Eamens et al. (2008)
	Tissue culture		High	High		McKenna et al. (2005)
	PCR	IMS PCR	Moderate High	High		Fang et al. (2002); Khare et al. (2004)
		Real-time	High	High		
		Nested	High	High		

Table 6:	Sensitivity (Se) and Specificity (Sp) of available diagnostic tests for MAP detection in cattle
----------	---

ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; PCR: polymerase chain reaction.

Test Category	Diagnostic Test	Products	Se (%)	Sp (%)	Infection stage	Reference
Humoral immune response	ELISA	IDEXX Parachek Svanovir	37 (10–80, 95% CI)	97 (93–99, 95% CI)	Affected Infectious Infected	Kostoulas et al. (2006b)
	AGID (agar gel immunodiffusion)		24.6 (19.1–30.7, 95% CI) 13.8 (8.8–20.3, 95% CI)	100 (99.7–100.0, 95% CI)	Infected Infected	Sergeant et al. (2003) Gumber et al. (2006)
Cell- mediated immunity	DTH (delayed type hypersensitivity)	Johnin testing	55.6	100.0		Perez et al. (1999)
Direct	Faecal culture		16 (2–48, 95% CI)	97 (95–99, 95% CI)	Infected	Kostoulas et al. (2006b)

Table 7: Se and Sp of available diagnostic tests for MAP detection in sheep

ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.



Test Category	Diagnostic Test	Products	Se (%)	Sp (%)	Infection stage	Reference
Humoral immune response	ELISA	IDEXX Parachek Svanovir	63 (42–93, 95% CI)	95 (90–98, 95% CI)	Affected, Infectious, Infected	Kostoulas et al. (2006b)
	AGID (agar gel immunodiffusion)		39.5 (30.9–48.7, 95% CI)			Gumber et al. (2006)
Cell-mediated immunity	DTH (delayed type hypersensitivity	Johnin testing	Moderate High	High		Tripathi et al. (2006)
Direct	Faecal culture		8 (2–17, 95% CI)	98 (95–100, 95% CI)	Infected	Kostoulas et al. (2006b)
	Tissue PCR		Moderate	High		Tripathi et al. (2006)

Table 8.	Se and Sn of	available diac	nostic tests fo	r MAP	detection in	noats
	Se and Sp Or	available ulac				yuaus

ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; PCR: polymerase chain reaction.

3.1.4.2. Article 7(d)(ii) Vaccination

Killed whole cell vaccines as well as non-attenuated and attenuated live vaccines have been developed and used against MAP. Subunit vaccines and more recently DNA vaccines have also been developed (Koets et al., 2006; Roupie et al., 2008). MAP vaccines are administered subcutaneously. Commercially available vaccines are outlined in Table 9. Vaccination is rarely used for cattle but is commonly applied in sheep and goats (Windsor, 2015). Restrictions on its use for cattle apply (i.e. it is prohibited in several European countries such as Denmark, Ireland and Spain), mainly due to the fact that it interferes with the testing for of bovine tuberculosis. The overall benefits of vaccination depend on the level of cross reactivity (Groenendaal et al., 2015).

Vaccination against MAP reduces the incidence of clinical disease (Wentink et al., 1994), MAP shedding (Sweeney et al., 2009) and thus the risk of transmission to uninfected herd-mates (Knust et al., 2013). Differences may exist in the efficacy between live and killed vaccines but these cannot be realised due to the variable study designs, vaccination age and indices of vaccine efficacy that have been used. Further, great heterogeneity exists in the benefits of vaccination probably due to differences in the prevalence of MAP infection and in the existing biosecurity measures that were or were not simultaneously applied among published studies (Bastida and Juste, 2011).

Vaccination does not prevent infection and healthy animals remain susceptible to MAP (Larsen and Miller, 1978). Bastida and Juste (2011) recently reviewed the vaccines that have been experimentally developed and/or the ones that are commercially available. They also looked into available studies and affirmed the positive effects of vaccination: reduced microbial contamination risk – through reduced shedding – and delayed production losses.

Contrary to what constitutes common practice in cattle, vaccination has been extensively applied in sheep and is one of the two main tools (with the other being a risk-based trading scheme) of the Australian programme for MAP control in sheep. The Australian experience indicates that vaccination effects are of increased significance in flocks with high prevalence. However, MAP shedding can persist for many years after vaccination commencement (Dhand et al., 2016). Improved hygiene/management factors play a key role in the persistence of paratuberculosis (Windsor, 2013) and are required to reduce transmission.



Table 9:	Commercially	v available	vaccines	against	MAP
	commercially	available	vaccincs	ugunise	I 17 M

Name/Laboratory	Туре	Species	Reference
Mycopar	Killed	Cattle Sheep	Uzonna et al. (2003)
Gudair	Killed	Sheep Goats	Singh et al. (2007)
Lio-Johne	Live	Sheep	Bastida and Juste (2011)
Neoparasec	Live	Cattle Sheep Goats	Griffin et al. (2009)
Silirum	Killed	Cattle	Stringer et al. (2013)
Phylaxia	Killed	Cattle	Kormendy (1994)

The availability of the commercial vaccines varies between MS. Gudair has authorisation in Cyprus, Greece, the Netherlands, Spain and the UK for use in sheep and goats but not in cattle (Videnova and Mackay, 2012).

3.1.4.3. Article 7(d)(iii) Medical treatments

Not relevant. Antibiotic treatment is not practiced in MAP-infected animals with the exception of high value animals. A description of available treatments is given in Section 3.1.1.4.

3.1.4.4. Article 7(d)(iv) Biosecurity measures

For herds/regions that are free of MAP infection, biosecurity measures should focus on preventing the introduction of infected species and/or the co-grazing sharing pastures with infected herds. Contact with wildlife species should not be ignored. Particularly contact to rabbits has been described as a factor associated with lack of Paratuberculosis control (Shaughnessy et al., 2013).

Under endemic disease conditions, biosecurity measures should focus on reducing the exposure of susceptible animals to faeces and/or milk of infectious animals. These efforts should be centred to young stock – a practice that requires long commitment from the farmers.

Risk assessment tools initially developed in the USA (Rossiter and Burhans, 1996) exist in a variety of forms, for example, in the Netherlands (Franken, 2005), Denmark (Kudahl et al., 2008) and Ireland (McAloon et al., 2016). These tools may serve primarily to educate farmers. Pillars et al. (2011) reported on a 5-year trial covering January 2003 to December 2007 where a JD control programme was designed specifically for each participating herd based on the results of an initial risk assessment. The risk assessment was repeated annually and the control programme updated as needed. Herd risk assessment scores were used to measure compliance with the control programme and create JD-risk profiles for individual cows raised on the farms. At the end of the 5 years of the cows that were not exposed to the control programme, 20% were classified as infected, while only 7% of cows that were winfections and manage/minimise the impact of existing infections at the animal and/or herd level can be found in Sweeney et al. (2012).

3.1.4.5. Article 7(d)(v) Restrictions on the movement of animals and products

Transmission between herds/flocks occurs primarily via the introduction of infected animals. Therefore, restrictions of animal movements can be efficient in reducing transmission to MAP-free establishments and/or in preventing re-introduction of MAP infection. In the Netherlands, use of milk from herds containing cows with high antibody ELISA values is restricted by some private milk processors, and most herds cull these animals (Weber et al., 2014). Furthermore, some countries (e.g. Austria) have restrictions on cattle, sheep, goats and farmed deer with clinical disease: milk from these animals cannot be used for human consumption and the animals cannot be slaughtered (Khol and Baumgartner, 2012). Nevertheless, the disease is not regulated at EU level and the extent and nature of programmes in Europe, which are not official programmes, is very diverse, as summarised in Nielsen (2009) and Geraghty et al. (2014).

The Australian programme for the control of paratuberculosis initially applied trade restrictions on infected herds within Australia, a strategy that later was found to be unhelpful due to the increased economic and social impact. These restrictions are now being replaced by a transparent risk-based trading supported by a relevant herd classification system (Geraghty et al., 2014). However,



restrictions are difficult to apply without possible definition of a free-status and the lack of reliable tests.

No official document on movement of livestock with MAP infection exists, but a set of guidelines has been proposed through the IAP (2016).

Accordingly, importing farms or regions should focus on preventing a further spread of the agent, if introduced, by limiting the exposure of animals to infectious materials, removing suspicious cases and the appropriate treatment of manure (IAP 2016).

Moreover, a classification of areas into free (surveillance programmes have not shown endemic infection in 10 years or the agent has been eradicated in the area without MAP detection in the following 2 years), eradication (surveillance programmes only identify low herd prevalences or the agent is being eradicated), certification (herds or flocks are voluntarily classified according to their MAP risk; biosecurity measures, testing and surveillance are in place) and other areas is recommended (IAP, 2016).

3.1.4.6. Article 7(d)(vi) Killing of animals

Culling of test-positive and/or animals with clinical disease appear to have a reducing effect on the prevalence in cattle populations if an appropriate test-strategy is carried out, and it is assisted by other measures to reduce transmission. However, killing of animals may not be sufficient if the general contamination of the environment is maintained (Wolf et al., 2016). Combination of improved calf hygiene with test-and-cull strategies has proved to effectively reduce the prevalence of MAP infection (Nielsen and Toft, 2011).

3.1.4.7. Article 7(d)(vii) Disposal of carcasses and other relevant animal by-products

Carcasses containing MAP can be safely destroyed at rendering plants. However, special precautions during the disposal of carcasses and other relevant animal by-products due to MAP infection have not so far been considered because its zoonotic role has not been confirmed.

3.1.5. Article 7(e) The impact of disease prevention and control measures

3.1.5.1. Article 7(e)(i) The direct and indirect costs for the affected sectors and the economy as a whole

Direct and indirect costs depend on the type of the control programme and the epidemiological situation under consideration. The main cost of test-and-cull strategies is the cost of replacing culled animals and the cost of the – usually repeated – testing scheme. Increased labour and equipment purchase costs are associated with control actions aiming at improved management/hygiene. The direct cost of vaccination-based strategies is low but indirect costs lie in the cross reactivity with tuberculosis testing. So far, assessment of existing control strategies has proven beneficial.

For example, the net benefit of farms in the Alberta Johne's Disease Initiative was estimated to be 74 CDN\$ per cow over the course of a decade. The benefits were lowered to 19 CDN\$ if costly management practices (i.e. the use of pasteurisers) were applied (Wolf et al., 2014). A cost benefit analysis of vaccination against MAP that adjusted for the cross reactivity with tuberculin tests revealed direct economic benefits of 8 US\$ per adult animal per year and indirect economic costs due to cross-reactivity of 2 US\$. The combination of test-and-cull strategies with improved management hygiene measures seems to be the most efficient strategy. Groenendaal and Galligan (2003) showed that improved calf-hygiene strategies were critically important in every paratuberculosis control programme especially for midsize US dairy farms while test-and-cull strategies alone may not be efficient in reducing the prevalence of paratuberculosis.

These, of course, depend on the prevalence of MAP infection and the hygiene level. A recent analysis that was based on data from farms participating in the Danish Control programme, where the prevalence of paratuberculosis is low (~ 7%), showed that a test-and-cull strategy is on average the most cost-effective to increase the total net revenue on a farm with low hygiene, but not more profitable than no action on a farm with average hygiene (Kirkeby et al., 2016). If the objective is to completely eradicate MAP, the expenses outweigh the benefits of the existing control efforts.

3.1.5.2. Article 7(e)(ii) The societal acceptance of disease prevention and control measures

Disease control measures are likely to be acceptable to society, except that slaughter of test-positive animals may be of concern to some. Further, farmers may be reluctant to devote the



resources required for the implementation of management practices aiming to improve calf hygiene, despite the fact that the combination of such practices with test-and-cull strategies effectively reduces the prevalence of MAP infection (Nielsen and Toft, 2011). In addition, improved calf hygiene normally has beneficial impacts across a range of other conditions affecting calves.

3.1.5.3. Article 7(e)(iii) The welfare of affected subpopulations of kept and wild animals

Parameter 1 – Welfare impact of control measures on domestic animals

Animal welfare can be affected if offspring is isolated from their dam at birth.

Parameter 2 – Wildlife depopulation as control measure

Wildlife depopulation has not so far been considered as a control measure for MAP.

3.1.5.4. Article 7(e)(iv) The environment and biodiversity

No impact on the environment and biodiversity has been identified, but if wildlife is implicated in transmission and if regulation of wildlife is deemed needed, then a systematic assessment of the biodiversity would be required.

MAP is resistant to common disinfectants. Phenolic and cresylic disinfectants are among the most efficient (Collins, 2003). In a recent study, the application of peracetic acid led to the total elimination of MAP (Kralik et al., 2014). The latter authors also demonstrated that repeated application of disinfection procedures are more effective compared to single increases in the concentration or time of exposure to the disinfectants. There are no reports on the potential impact of residuals in the environmental compartments (soil, water, feed, manure) as a result of MAP-specific disinfection procedures.

There are no reports on mortality in wildlife species due to control measures.

3.2. Assessment according to Article 5 criteria

This section presents the results of the expert judgement on the criteria of Article 5 of the AHL about paratuberculosis (Table 10). The expert judgement was based on Individual and Collective Behavioural Aggregation (ICBA) approach described in detail in the opinion on the methodology (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017). Experts have been provided with information of the disease fact-sheet mapped into Article 5 criteria (see supporting information, Annex A), based on that the experts indicate their Y/N or `na' judgement on each criterion of Article 5, and the reasoning supporting their judgement.

The minimum number of judges in the judgement was 10. The expert judgement was conducted as described in the methodological opinion (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017). For details on the interpretation of the questions, see Appendix B of the methodological opinion (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017).

Table 10: Outcome of the expert judgement on the Article 5 criteria for paratuberculosis

Accord	ia to be met by the disease: ling to AHL, a disease shall be included in the list referred to in point (b) of paragraph 1 of 5 if it has been assessed in accordance with Article 7 and meets all of the following criteria	Final outcome			
A(i)	The disease is transmissible	Y			
A(ii)	Animal species are either susceptible to the disease or vectors and reservoirs thereof exist in the Union	Y			
A(iii)	The disease causes negative effects on animal health or poses a risk to public health due to its zoonotic character	Y			
A(iv)	Diagnostic tools are available for the disease	Y			
A(v)	Risk-mitigating measures and, where relevant, surveillance of the disease are effective and proportionate to the risks posed by the disease in the Union	Y			
In add	ist one criterion to be met by the disease: lition to the criteria set out above at points A(i)–A(v), the disease needs to fulfil at least one of ng criteria	the			
B(i)	B(i) The disease causes or could cause significant negative effects in the Union on animal health, or poses or could pose a significant risk to public health due to its zoonotic character				
B(ii)	The disease agent has developed resistance to treatments and poses a significant danger to public and/or animal health in the Union	Ν			



B(iii)	The disease causes or could cause a significant negative economic impact affecting agriculture or aquaculture production in the Union	Y
B(iv)	The disease has the potential to generate a crisis or the disease agent could be used for the purpose of bioterrorism	NC
B(v)	The disease has or could have a significant negative impact on the environment, including biodiversity, of the Union	Ν

Colour code: green = consensus (Yes/No); yellow = no consensus (NC); red = not applicable (na), i.e. insufficient evidence or not relevant to judge.

3.2.1. Non-consensus questions

This section displays the assessment related to each criterion of Article 5 where no consensus was achieved in form of tables (Tables 11 and 12). The proportion of Y, N or na answers are reported, followed by the list of different supporting views for each answer.

Table 11: Outcome of the expert judgement related to criterion 5 B(i)

		F ¹ 1	v	esponse	
Que	stion	Final outcome	Y (%)	N (%)	na (%)
B(i)	The disease causes or could cause significant negative effects in the Union on animal health, or poses or could pose a significant risk to public health due to its zoonotic character	NC	80	20	0

NC: non-consensus; number of judges: 10.

Reasoning supporting the judgement

Supporting Yes:

- If the zoonotic risk of CD is proven, this could cause a significant impact.
- Some individual farms have significant health and/or production problems (e.g. reduced milk yield, infertility) where the overt or underlying cause is infection with MAP.
- MAP may be involved in some, but probably not all, cases of CD.
- In Denmark, impact on animal health or production was experienced by approximately half of dairy farmers.

Supporting No:

- After a review conducted in 2015, no strong evidence was found to confirm the zoonotic role of paratuberculosis as a causal agent of CD.
- According to the evidence shown in the present opinion, in most of the studies the morbidity rate and the apparent animal-level prevalence are low.
- The impact on animal health can be considered currently as low considering the whole cattle sector.

Table 12: Outcome of the expert judgement related to criterion 5 B(iv)

		-	Response		
Questio	n	Final outcome	Y (%)	Y N %) (%)	na (%)
B(iv)	The disease has the potential to generate a crisis or the disease agent could be used for the purpose of bioterrorism	NC	30	70	0

NC: non-consensus; number of judges: 10.

Reasoning supporting the judgement

Supporting Yes:

• There is the potential for a major public health crisis if conclusive evidence were to emerge of the zoonotic potential of paratuberculosis.



Supporting No:

- The zoonotic role of paratuberculosis is not confirmed thus the potential to generate the crisis is remote.
- MAP is not listed under pathogens with bioterrorism potential.

3.2.2. Outcome of the assessment of paratuberculosis according to criteria of Article 5(3) of the AHL on its eligibility to be listed

As from the legal text of the AHL, a disease is considered eligible to be listed as laid down in Article 5 if it fulfils all criteria of the first set from A(i) to A(v) and at least one of the second set of criteria from B(i) to B(v). According to the assessment methodology (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017), a criterion is considered fulfilled when the outcome is 'Yes'. According to the results shown in Table 10, paratuberculosis complies with all criteria of the first set and with one criterion of the second set, therefore it is considered to be eligible to be listed as laid down in Article 5 of the AHL.

3.3. Assessment according to Article 9 criteria

This section presents the results of the expert judgement on the criteria of Annex IV referring to categories as in Article 9 of the AHL about paratuberculosis (Tables 13, 14, 15, 16 and 17). The expert judgement was based on ICBA approach described in detail in the opinion on the methodology. Experts have been provided with information of the disease fact-sheet mapped into Article 9 criteria (see supporting information, Annex A), based on that the experts indicate their Y/N or 'na' judgement on each criterion of Article 9, and the reasoning supporting their judgement. The minimum number of judges in the judgement was ten. The expert judgement was conducted as described in the methodological opinion (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017). For details on the interpretation of the questions, see Appendix B of the methodological opinion (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017).

Table 13:	Outcome of the expert judgement related to the criteria of Section 1 of Annex IV	
	(category A of Article 9) for paratuberculosis	

	ria to be met by the disease: isease needs to fulfil all of the following criteria	Final outcome		
1	The disease is not present in the territory of the Union OR present only in exceptional cases (irregular introductions) OR present in only in a very limited part of the territory of the Union	Ν		
2.1	The disease is highly transmissible	Ν		
2.2	There be possibilities of airborne or waterborne or vector-borne spread	NC		
2.3	The disease affects multiple species of kept and wild animals OR single species of kept animals of economic importance	Y		
2.4	The disease may result in high morbidity and significant mortality rates	Ν		
In addition to the criteria set out above at points 1–2.4, the disease needs to fulfil at least one of the formation of the set of the disease has a zoonotic potential with significant consequences on public health, including endemic or pandemic potential OP possible significant threats to food safety.				
4	epidemic or pandemic potential OR possible significant threats to food safety The disease has a significant impact on the economy of the Union, causing substantial costs,	N Y		
	mainly related to its direct impact on the health and productivity of animals			
5(a)	The disease has a significant impact on society, with in particular an impact on labour markets	N		
5(b)	The disease has a significant impact on animal welfare, by causing suffering of large numbers of animals	Y		
5(c)	The disease has a significant impact on the environment, due to the direct impact of the disease OR due to the measures taken to control it	Ν		
5(d)	The disease has a significant impact on a long-term effect on biodiversity or the protection of endangered species or breeds, including the possible disappearance or long-term damage to those species or breeds	Ν		

Colour code: green = consensus (Yes/No), yellow = no consensus (NC).



Table 14: Outcome of the expert judgement related to the criteria of Section 2 of Annex IV (category B of Article 9) for paratuberculosis

Criteria to be met by the disease: The disease needs to fulfil all of the following criteria			
1	The disease is present in the whole OR part of the Union territory with an endemic character AND (at the same time) several Member States or zones of the Union are free of the disease	N	
2.1	The disease is moderately to highly transmissible	Y	
2.2	There be possibilities of airborne or waterborne or vector-borne spread	NC	
2.3	The disease affects single or multiple species	Y	
2.4	The disease may result in high morbidity with in general low mortality	Y	

At least one criterion to be met by the disease:

In addition to the criteria set out above at points 1-2.4, the disease needs to fulfil at least one of the following criteria

3	The disease has a zoonotic potential with significant consequences on public health, including epidemic potential OR possible significant threats to food safety	Ν
4	The disease has a significant impact on the economy of the Union, causing substantial costs, mainly related to its direct impact on the health and productivity of animals	Y
5(a)	The disease has a significant impact on society, with in particular an impact on labour markets	Ν
5(b)	The disease has a significant impact on animal welfare, by causing suffering of large numbers of animals	Y
5(c)	The disease has a significant impact on the environment, due to the direct impact of the disease OR due to the measures taken to control it	Ν
5(d)	The disease has a significant impact on a long-term effect on biodiversity or the protection of endangered species or breeds, including the possible disappearance or long-term damage to those species or breeds	N

Colour code: green = consensus (Yes/No), yellow = no consensus (NC).

Table 15: Outcome of the expert judgement related to the criteria of Section 3 of Annex IV (category C of Article 9) for paratuberculosis

	ia to be met by the disease: sease needs to fulfil all of the following criteria	Final outcome
1	The disease is present in the whole OR part of the Union territory with an endemic character	Y
2.1	The disease is moderately to highly transmissible	Y
2.2	The disease is transmitted mainly by direct or indirect transmission	Y
2.3	The disease affects single or multiple species	Y
2.4	The disease usually does not result in high morbidity and has negligible or no mortality AND often the most observed effect of the disease is production loss	Y
	ast one criterion to be met by the disease: dition to the criteria set out above at points 1–2.4, the disease needs to fulfil at least one of the a	following
3	The disease has a zoonotic potential with significant consequences on public health, or possible significant threats to food safety	NC
4	The disease has a significant impact on the economy of parts of the Union, mainly related to its direct impact on certain types of animal production systems	Ν
5(a)	The disease has a significant impact on society, with in particular an impact on labour markets	N
5(b)	The disease has a significant impact on animal welfare, by causing suffering of large numbers of animals	Y
5(c)	The disease has a significant impact on the environment, due to the direct impact of the disease OR due to the measures taken to control it	Ν
5(d)	The disease has a significant impact on a long-term effect on biodiversity or the protection of endangered species or breeds, including the possible disappearance or long-term damage to those species or breeds	N

Colour code: green = consensus (Yes/No), yellow = no consensus (NC).



Table 16: Outcome of the expert judgement related to the criteria of Section 4 of Annex IV (category D of Article 9) for paratuberculosis

	eria to be met by the disease: disease needs to fulfil all of the following criteria	Final outcome
D	The risk posed by the disease in question can be effectively and proportionately mitigated by measures concerning movements of animals and products in order to prevent or limit its occurrence and spread	Y
The	disease fulfils criteria of Sections 1, 2, 3 or 5 of Annex IV of AHL	Y

Colour code: green = consensus (Yes/No).

 Table 17:
 Outcome of the expert judgement related to the criteria of Section 5 of Annex IV (category E of Article 9) for paratuberculosis

	ases in category E need to fulfil criteria of Sections 1, 2 or 3 of Annex IV of AHL and/or ollowing:	Final outcome
E	Surveillance of the disease is necessary for reasons relating to animal health, animal welfare, human health, the economy, society or the environment (If a disease fulfils the criteria as in Article 5, thus being eligible to be listed, consequently category E would apply.)	Y

Colour code: green = consensus (Yes/No).

3.3.1. Non-consensus questions

This section displays the assessment related to each criterion of Annex IV referring to the categories of Article 9 of the AHL where no consensus was achieved in form of tables (Tables 18 and 19). The proportion of Y, N or `na' answers are reported, followed by the list of different supporting views for each answer.

Table 18:	Outcome of the expert judgement related to criterion 2.2 of Article 9

			Response			
Questi	on	Final outcome	Y (%)	N (%)	na (%)	
2.2	There be possibilities of airborne or waterborne or vector-borne spread	NC	30	70	0	

NC: non-consensus; number of judges: 10.

Reasoning supporting the judgement

Supporting Yes:

- MAP survives well in the environment in water, soil and dust. Infection is normally acquired via the oral-faecal route, therefore waterborne transmission is highly likely where faecal contamination of water occurs either directly through defecation into surface waters by infected bovines (Collins et al., 1994) or water becomes a vehicle for MAP via slurry contamination (Pickup et al., 2006). A number of human Crohn's clusters have been linked to possible MAP presence in water (Van Kruiningen et al., 2005; Pierce, 2009).
- Corner et al. (2004) and Eisenberg et al. (2010) have put forward arguments supporting a role for aerosol transmission. Eisenberg et al. (2011) have demonstrated intestinal infection following aerosol challenge of calves with MAP.

Supporting No:

- No airborne/waterborne/vector-borne transmission of paratuberculosis has been described as yet, even though MAP has been detected in rivers and streams.
- Although these possibilities exist, they are not the main routes of transmission.



Table 19: Outcome of the expert judgement related to criterion 2.2 of Article 9

		F ¹	Response			
Questio	n	Final outcome	Y (%)	N (%)	na (%)	
3 (cat.C)	The disease has a zoonotic potential with significant consequences on public health, or possible significant threats to food safety	NC	50	50	0	

NC: non-consensus; number of judges: 10.

Reasoning supporting the judgement

Supporting Yes:

- In experimental studies, every species that became infected following exposure, including non-human primates and human fetal gut matured on the backs of mice, have demonstrated symptoms of CD following infection with MAP. Thus it seems implausible that humans are the only species that do not become infected with MAP.
- There are a number of cases where Crohn's symptoms have been resolved in the long term with antimycobacterial drugs.
- MAP has been isolated from human breast milk.
- MAP has been demonstrated in the blood of some patients with CD.
- MAP has survived pasteurisation in some cases.
- Viable MAP has been isolated from beef of cows with clinical disease and following light cooking of hamburger patties.

supporting No:

• Up to now, a causal link has not been proven between MAP infection and CD in humans. Although a significant association has been identified between MAP and CD, knowledge gaps exist. There is currently insufficient evidence to support a causal relationship. For example, there is no significant association between the prevalence of MAP in livestock and the incidence of CD in human populations. Similarly, other micro-organisms have been also associated with CD. It is recognised that not all individuals from which MAP infection has been detected are susceptible to CD.

3.3.2. Outcome of the assessment of criteria in Annex IV for paratuberculosis for the purpose of categorisation as in Article 9 of the AHL

As from the legal text of the AHL, a disease is considered fitting in a certain category (A, B, C, D or E corresponding to point (a) to point (e) of Article 9(1) of the AHL) if it is eligible to be listed for Union intervention as laid down in Article 5(3) and fulfils all criteria of the first set from 1 to 2.4 and at least one of the second set of criteria from 3 to 5(d) as shown in Tables 13–17. According to the assessment methodology (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017), a criterion is considered fulfilled when the outcome is 'Yes'.

A description of the outcome of the assessment of criteria in Annex IV for paratuberculosis for the purpose of categorisation as in Article 9 of the AHL is presented in Table 20.



Table 20: Outcome of the assessment of criteria in Annex IV for paratuberculosis for the purpose of categorisation as in Article 9 of the AHL

	Article 9 criteria										
		1 ° se	t of crite	eria			2	2° set of	f criteria	a	
	1	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	3	4	5a	5b	5 c	5d
Category	Geographical distribution	Transmissibility	Routes of transmission	Multiple species	Morbidity and mortality	Zoonotic potential	Impact on economy	Impact on society	Impact on animal welfare	Impact on environment	Impact on biodiversity
A	N	N	NC	Y	N	N	Y	N	Y	Ν	N
В	N	Y	NC	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Ν	Ν
С	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NC	N	N	Y	Ν	Ν
D						Y					
E						Y					

According to the assessment here performed, paratuberculosis complies with the following criteria of the Sections 1-5 of Annex IV of the AHL for the application of the disease prevention and control rules referred to in points (a) to (e) of Article 9(1):

- To be assigned to category A, a disease needs to comply with all criteria of the first set (1, 2.1–2.4) and according to the assessment paratuberculosis complies with criterion 2.3, but not with criteria 1, 2.1 and 2.4 and the assessment is inconclusive on compliance with criterion 2.2. To be eligible for category A, a disease needs to comply additionally with one of the criteria of the second set (3, 4, 5a–d) and paratuberculosis complies with criteria 4 and 5b, but not with criteria 3, 5a, 5c and 5d.
- 2) To be assigned to category B, a disease needs to comply with all criteria of the first set (1, 2.1–2.4) and according to the assessment paratuberculosis complies with criteria 2.1, 2.3 and 2.4, but not with criterion 1 and the assessment is inconclusive on compliance with criterion 2.2. To be eligible for category B, a disease needs to comply additionally with one of the criteria of the second set (3, 4, 5a–d) and paratuberculosis complies with criteria 4 and 5b, but not with criteria 3, 5a, 5c and 5d.
- 3) To be assigned to category C, a disease needs to comply with all criteria of the first set (1, 2.1–2.4) and according to the assessment paratuberculosis complies with all of them. To be eligible for category C, a disease needs to comply additionally with one of the criteria of the second set (3, 4, 5a–d) and paratuberculosis complies with criterion 5b, but not with criteria 4, 5a, 5c and 5d and the assessment is inconclusive on compliance with criterion 3.
- 4) To be assigned to category D, a disease needs to comply with criteria of Sections 1, 2, 3 or 5 of Annex IV of the AHL and with the specific criterion D of Section 4, with which paratuberculosis complies.
- 5) To be assigned to category E, a disease needs to comply with criteria of Sections 1, 2 or 3 of Annex IV of the AHL and/or the surveillance of the disease is necessary for reasons relating to animal health, animal welfare, human health, the economy, society or the environment. The latter is applicable if a disease fulfils the criteria as in Article 5, with which paratuberculosis complies.

3.4. Assessment of Article 8

This section presents the results of the assessment on the criteria of Article 8(3) of the AHL about paratuberculosis. The Article 8(3) criteria are about animal species to be listed, as it reads below:



'3. Animal species or groups of animal species shall be added to this list if they are affected or if they pose a risk for the spread of a specific listed disease because:

- a) they are susceptible for a specific listed disease or scientific evidence indicates that such susceptibility is likely; or
- b) they are vector species or reservoirs for that disease, or scientific evidence indicates that such role is likely'.

For this reason, the assessment on Article 8 criteria is based on the evidence as extrapolated from the relevant criteria of Article 7, i.e. the ones related to susceptible and reservoir species or routes of transmission, which cover also possible role of biological or mechanical vectors.¹ According to the mapping, as presented in table 5, Section 3.2 of the scientific opinion on the ad hoc methodology (EFSA AHAW Panel, 2017), the main animal species to be listed for paratuberculosis according to the criteria of Article 8(3) of the AHL are as displayed in Table 21.

Table 21:	Main animal species to be listed for paratuberculosis according to criteria of Article 8
	(source: data reported in Section 3.1.1.1)

	Class	Order	Family	Genus/Species
Susceptible	Mammalia	Artiodactyla	Bovidae	Bos taurus, Ovis aries, Bos indicus, Bison bison, Bubalis bubalis, Bison bison, Capra ibex, Rupicapra rupicapra, Bos grunniens, Oreamnos americanus, Capra hircus, Capra aegagrus hircus, Capra aegagrus ibex, Ovis orientalis, Ovis Canadensis, Ammotragus lervia, Ovis aries cameroon dwarf, Tragelaphus strepsiceros, Saiga tatarica
			Camelidae	Lama glama, Camelus bacterianus, Camelus dromedaries, Vicugna pacos, Lama guanicoe
			Cervidae	Dama dama, Cervus elaphus, Cervus Canadensis, Odocoileus virginianus clavium, Odocoileus hemionus, Dama dama, Capreolus capreolus, Odocoileus virginianus Alces alces, Cervus elaphus nannodes, Cervus elaphus nelson, Cervus nippon, Axis axis, Pudu pudu, Rangifer tarandus
			Suidae	Sus spp., Sus scrofa
		Perissodactyla	Equidae	Equus asinus form. dom., Equus mule, Equus ferus caballus
		Carnivora	Canidae	Vulpes vulpes, Canis lupus
			Felidae	Felis catus
			Mephitidae	Mephitis mephitis
			Mustelidae	Meles meles, Mustela ermine, Mustela nivalis
			Ursidae	Ursus arctos
			Procyonidae	Procyon lotor
		Lagomorpha	Leporidae	<i>Lepus</i> spp., <i>Oryctolagus cuniculus</i> , Sylvilagus <i>floridanus</i>
		Rodentia	Muridae	Mus spp., Apodemus flavicollis, Apodemus sylvaticus, Rattus norvegicus
			Cricetidae	Mesocricetus spp., Clethrionomys glareolus, Microtus agrestis, Sigmodon hispidus
			Caviidae	Cavia porcellus

¹ A vector is a living organism that transmits an infectious agent from an infected animal to a human or another animal. Vectors are frequently arthropods. Biological vectors may carry pathogens that can multiply within their bodies and be delivered to new hosts, usually by biting. In mechanical vectors the pathogens do not multiply within the vector, which usually remains infected for shorter time than in biological vectors.

	Class	Order	Family	Genus/Species
		Eulipotyphla	Soricidae	Blarina brevicauda
		Primates	Cercopithecidae	Mandrillus sphinx, Macaca arctoides, Callithrix jacchus, Macaca mulatta, Sanguinus Oedipus, Varecia variegata
		Didelphimorphia	Didelphidae	Didelphis virginiana
		Cingulata	Dasypodidae	Dasypus novemcinctus
	Aves	Galliformes	Phasianidae	Gallus gallus, Phasianus colchicus
		Passeriformes	Estrildidae	Stagonopleura guttata
			Corvidae	Corvus corone, Corvus monedula, Corvus frugilegus
			Passeridae	Passer domesticus
			Sturnidae	Sturnus vulgaris
		Accipitriformes	Accipitridae	Buteo buteo
		Columbiformes	Columbidae	Columbia livia, Columba palumbus
		Charadriiformes	Scolopacidae	Gallinago gallinago
	Clitellata	Haplotaxida	Lumbricidae	Lumbricus spp.
Reservoir	Mammalia	Artiodactyla	Bovidae	Not specified
			Cervidae	Not specified
		Lagomorpha	Leporidae	Not specified
/ectors	None			

4. Conclusions

TOR 1: for each of those diseases an assessment, following the criteria laid down in Article 7 of the AHL, on its eligibility of being listed for Union intervention as laid down in Article 5(3) of the AHL;

• According to the assessment here performed, paratuberculosis complies with all criteria of the first set and with one criterion of the second set and therefore can be considered eligible to be listed for Union intervention as laid down in Article 5(3) of the AHL.

TOR 2a: for each of the diseases which was found eligible to be listed for Union intervention, an assessment of its compliance with each of the criteria in Annex IV to the AHL for the purpose of categorisation of diseases in accordance with Article 9 of the AHL;

 According to the assessment here performed, paratuberculosis meets the criteria as in Sections 3, 4 and 5 of Annex IV of the AHL, for the application of the disease prevention and control rules referred to in points (c), (d) and (e) of Article 9(1) of the AHL.

TOR 2b: for each of the diseases which was found eligible to be listed for Union intervention, a list of animal species that should be considered candidates for listing in accordance with Article 8 of the AHL.

• According to the assessment here performed, the animal species that can be considered to be listed for paratuberculosis according to Article 8(3) of the AHL are several orders, families and species of mammals and birds as susceptible and some species of the families Bovidae, Cervidae and Leporidae as reservoirs, as reported in Table 21 in Section 3.4 of the present document.

References

Abegunde AT, Muhammad BH, Bhatti O and Ali T, 2016. Environmental risk factors for inflammatory bowel diseases: evidence based literature review. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 22, 6296–6317.

- Abubakar I, Myhill D, Aliyu SH and Hunter PR, 2008. Detection of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis from patients with Crohn's disease using nucleic acid-based techniques: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, 14, 401–410.
- Al-Mamun MA, Smith RL, Schukken YH and Grohn YT, 2016. Modeling of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* dynamics in a dairy herd: an individual based approach. Journal of Theoretical Biology, 408, 105–117.



- Alonso-Hearn M, Molina E, Geijo M, Vazquez P, Sevilla I, Garrido JM and Juste RA, 2009. Isolation of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis from Muscle Tissue of Naturally Infected Cattle. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 6, 513–518.
- Amand WB, 1974. Paratuberculosis in a dromedary camel. American Association of Zoo Veterinarians. Annual proceedings, 1974, 150–153.
- Angelidou E, Kostoulas P and Leontides L, 2014. Flock-level factors associated with the risk of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* (MAP) infection in Greek dairy goat flocks. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 117, 233–241.
- Anna Rita A, Victor NN, Silvia P, Luciana P, Anastasia D and Vincenzo C, 2011. Ovine paratuberculosis: a seroprevalence study in dairy flocks reared in the marche region. Italy. Veterinary Medicine International, 2011, 782875.
- Arrazuria R, Arnaiz I, Fouz R, Calvo C, Eiras C and Dieguez FJ, 2014. Association between *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* infection and culling in dairy cattle herds. Archivos De Medicina Veterinaria, 46, 39–44.
- Arrigoni N, Cammi G, Losini I, Taddei R, Tamba M and Belletti GL, 2008. Survey on paratuberculosis prevalence in dairy herds of the Lombardia Region (Italy). Proceedings of the 9th International Colloquium on Paratuberculosis, Tsukuba, Japan, 29 October - 2 November 2007, 196–197.
- Atreya R, Bulte M, Gerlach GF, Goethe R, Hornef MW, Kohler H, Meens J, Mobius P, Roeb E, Weiss S and Zoo MAPC, 2014. Facts, myths and hypotheses on the zoonotic nature of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis*. International Journal of Medical Microbiology, 304, 858–867.
- Ayele WY, Machackova M and Pavlik I, 2001. The transmission and impact of paratuberculosis infection in domestic and wild ruminants. Veterinarni Medicina, 46, 205–224.
- Ayele WY, Bartos M, Svastova P and Pavlik I, 2004. Distribution of Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis in organs of naturally infected bull-calves and breeding bulls. Veterinary Microbiology, 103, 209–217.
- Bang B, 1906. Chronische pseudotuberkulöse Darmentzündung beim Rinde. Berliner Tierärztliche Wochenschrift, 42, 759–763.
- Baptista FM, Nielsen SS and Toft N, 2008. Association between the presence of antibodies to *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* and somatic cell count. Journal of Dairy Science, 91, 109–118.
- Bastida F and Juste RA, 2011. Paratuberculosis control: a review with a focus on vaccination. Journal of Immune Based Therapies and Vaccines, 9, 8.
- Baumgart DC and Sandborn WJ, 2012. Crohn's disease. Lancet, 380, 1590–1605.
- Beard PM, Rhind SM, Buxton D, Daniels MJ, Henderson D, Pirie A, Rudge K, Greig A, Hutchings MR, Stevenson K and Sharp JM, 2001a. Natural paratuberculosis infection in rabbits in Scotland. Journal of Comparative Pathology, 124, 290–299.
- Beard PM, Daniels MJ, Henderson D, Pirie A, Rudge K, Buxton D, Rhind S, Greig A, Hutchings MR, McKendrick I, Stevenson K and Sharp JM, 2001b. Paratuberculosis infection of nonruminant wildlife in Scotland. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 39, 1517–1521.
- Beaver A, Sweeney RW, Hovingh E, Wolfgang DR, Gröhn YT and Schukken YH, 2017. Longitudinal relationship between fecal culture, fecal quantitative PCR, and milk ELISA in Mycobacterium avium ssp. paratuberculosisinfected cows from low-prevalence dairy herds. Journal of Dairy Science. pii: S0022-0302(17)30613-6.
- Begg D and Whittington R, 2010. Paratuberculosis in Sheep. In: Behr MA, Collins DM (eds.). Paratuberculosis: Organism, Disease, Control. CAB International Oxford, United Kingdom. pp. 157–168.
- Belknap EB, Getzy DM, Johnson LW, Ellis RP, Thompson GL and Shulaw WP, 1994. Mycobacterium paratuberculosis infection in two llamas. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 204, 1805–1808.
- Benedictus G, Dijkhuizen AA and Stelwagen J, 1987. Economic losses due to paratuberculosis in dairy cattle. Veterinary Record, 121, 142–146.
- Beumer A, King D, Donohue M, Mistry J, Covert T and Pfaller S, 2010. Detection of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. paratuberculosis in drinking water and biofilms by quantitative PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 76, 7367–7370.
- Boadella M, Lyashchenko K, Greenwald R, Esfandiari J, Jaroso R, Carta T, Garrido JM, Vicente J, de la Fuente J and Gortazar C, 2011. Serologic tests for detecting antibodies against Mycobacterium bovis and Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis in Eurasian wild boar (*Sus scrofa scrofa*). Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation, 23, 77–83.
- Boelaert F, Walravens K, Biront P, Vermeersch JP, Berkvens D and Godfroid J, 2000. Prevalence of paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) in the Belgian cattle population. Veterinary Microbiology, 77, 269–281.
- Borody TJ, Bilkey S, Wettstein AR, Leis S, Pang G and Tye S, 2007. Anti-mycobacterial therapy in Crohn's disease heals mucosa with longitudinal scars. Digestive and Liver Disease, 39, 438–444.
- Bosshard C, Stephan R and Tasara T, 2006. Application of an F57 sequence-based real-time PCR assay for Mycobacterium paratuberculosis detection in bulk tank raw milk and slaughtered healthy dairy cows. Journal of Food Protection, 69, 1662–1667.
- Botsaris G, Swift BMC, Slana I, Liapi M, Christodoulou M, Hatzitofi M, Christodoulou V and Rees CED, 2016. Detection of viable Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis in powdered infant formula by phage-PCR and confirmed by culture. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 216, 91–94.



- Bottcher J and Gangl A, 2004. Mycobacterium avium ssp paratuberculosis Combined serological testing and classification of individual animals and herds. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series B-Infectious Diseases and Veterinary Public Health, 51, 443–448.
- Braun RK, Buergelt CD, Littell RC, Linda SB and Simpson JR, 1990. Use of an enzyme-linked-immunosorbent-assay to estimate prevalence of paratuberculosis in cattle of florida. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 196, 1251–1254.
- Brumbaugh GW, Edwards JF, Roussel AJ and Thomson TD, 2000. Effect of monensin sodium on histological lesions of naturally occurring bovine paratuberculosis. Journal of Comparative Pathology, 123, 22–28.
- Buergelt CD and Ginn PE, 2000. The histopathologic diagnosis of subclinical Johne's disease in North American Bison (*Bison bison*). Veterinary Microbiology, 77, 325–331.
- Bush RD, Windsor PA and Toribio JA, 2006. Losses of adult sheep due to ovine Johne's disease in 12 infected flocks over a 3-year period. Australian Veterinary Journal, 84, 246–253.
- Carta T, Alvarez J, de la Lastra JMP and Gortazar C, 2013. Wildlife and paratuberculosis: a review. Research in Veterinary Science, 94, 191–197.
- Carvalho IA, Silva VO, Vidigal PMP, Silva A and Moreira MAS, 2012. Genetic evaluation of IS900 partial sequence of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis Brazilian isolates from bovine milk. Tropical Animal Health and Production, 44, 1331–1334.
- CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention), 2017. Bioterrorism Agents/Diseases. Available online: https:// emergency.cdc.gov/agent/agentlist.asp
- Cenci-Goga BT, Vescera F, Paolotto P, McCrindle CME and Roberti U, 2010. Seroprevalence of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* in cows in Umbria, Italy. Veterinary Record, 167, 577–578.
- Cetinkaya B, Egan K, Harbour DA and Morgan KL, 1996. An abattoir-based study of the prevalence of subclinical Johne's disease in adult cattle in south west England. Epidemiology and Infection, 116, 373–379.
- Cetinkaya B, Muz A, Ertas HB, Ongor H, Sezen IY and Gulcu HB, 2000. Determination of prevalence of paratuberculosis in dairy cattle by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Turkish Journal of Veterinary & Animal Sciences, 24, 371–379.
- CFSPH (Center for Food Security and Public Health), 2017. List of zoonotic diseases. Available online: http:// www.cfsph.iastate.edu/Zoonoses/
- CHAWG (Cattle Health and Welfare group), 2012. First annual report: GB cattle health and welfare group. Available online: http://www.eblex.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/Cattle-Health-and-Welfare-Report. pdf [Accessed: 11 May 2017]
- Chi J, VanLeeuwen JA, Weersink A and Keefe GP, 2002. Direct production losses and treatment costs from bovine viral diarrhoea virus, bovine leukosis virus, *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis*, and Neospora caninum. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 55, 137–153.
- Chiodini RJ, Vankruiningen HJ and Merkal RS, 1984a. Ruminant para-tuberculosis (johnes disease) the current status and future-prospects. Cornell Veterinarian, 74, 218–262.
- Chiodini RJ, Vankruiningen HJ, Thayer WR, Merkal RS and Coutu JA, 1984b. Possible role of mycobacteria in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. 1. An unclassified Mycobacterium species isolated from patients with Crohns disease. Digestive Diseases and Sciences, 29, 1073–1079.
- Collins MT, 2003. Update on paratuberculosis: 1. Epidemiology of Johne's disease and the biology of Mycobacterium paratuberculosis. Irish Veterinary Journal, 56, 565.
- Collins MT, Sockett DC, Goodger WJ, Conrad TA, Thomas CB and Carr DJ, 1994. Herd prevalence and geographic distribution of, and risk factors for, bovine paratuberculosis in Wisconsin. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 204, 636–641.
- Collins MT, Eggleston V and Manning EJB, 2010. Successful control of Johne's disease in nine dairy herds: results of a six-year field trial. Journal of Dairy Science, 93, 1638–1643.
- Corn JL, Manning EJB, Sreevatsan S and Fischer JR, 2005. Isolation of Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis from free-ranging birds and mammals on livestock premises. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71, 6963–6967.
- Corner LAL, Pfeiffer DU and Abbott KA, 2004. The respiratory tract as a hypothetical route of infection of cattle with *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis*. Australian Veterinary Journal, 82, 170–173.
- Cossu A, Rosu V, Paccagnini D, Cossu D, Pacifico A and Sechi LA, 2011a. MAP3738c and MptD are specific tags of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis infection in type I diabetes mellitus. Clinical Immunology, 141, 49–57.
- Cossu D, Cocco E, Paccagnini D, Masala S, Ahmed N, Frau J, Marrosu MG and Sechi LA, 2011b. Association of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis with Multiple Sclerosis in Sardinian Patients. PLoS ONE, 6, 6.
- Crohn BB, Ginzburg L and Oppenheimer GD, 1932. Regional ileitis: a pathologic and clinical entity. Journal of the American Medical Association, 99, 1323–1329.
- Crossley BM, Zagmutt-Vergara FJ, Fyock TL, Whitlock RH and Gardner IA, 2005. Faecal shedding of Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis by dairy cows. Veterinary Microbiology, 107, 257–263.
- Cvetnic Z, Duricic M, Staresina V, Zdelar-Tuk M, Racic I, Duvnjak S, Turk N, Milas Z and Spicic S, 2012. The spread of bovine paratuberculosis in the Republic of Croatia in 2010. Veterinarska Stanica, 43, 101–108.



- Daniels MJ, Hutchings MR, Beard PM, Henderson D, Greig A, Stevenson K and Sharp JM, 2003. Do non-ruminant wildlife pose a risk of paratuberculosis to domestic livestock and vice versa in Scotland? Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 39, 10–15.
- Davis WC, Kuenstner JT and Singh SV, 2017. Resolution of Crohn's (Johne's) disease with antibiotics: what are the next steps? Expert Review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 11, 393–396.
- Deutz A, Spergser J, Wagner P, Rosengarten R and Kofer J, 2005. *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis in wild animal species and cattle in Styria/Austria. Berliner und Münchener Tierärztliche Wochenschrift, 118, 314–320.
- Dhand NK, Eppleston J, Whittington RJ and Toribio J, 2009. Association of farm soil characteristics with ovine Johne's disease in Australia. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 89, 110–120.
- Dhand NK, Eppleston J, Whittington RJ and Windsor PA, 2016. Changes in prevalence of ovine paratuberculosis following vaccination with Gudair (R): results of a longitudinal study conducted over a decade. Vaccine, 34, 5107–5113.
- Dieguez FJ, Arnaiz I, Sanjuan ML, Vilar MJ, Lopez M and Yus E, 2007. Prevalence of serum antibodies to Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis in cattle in Galicia (northwest Spain). Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 82, 321–326.
- Dieguez FJ, Arnaiz I, Sanjuan ML, Vilar MJ and Yus E, 2008. Management practices associated with *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* infection and the effects of the infection on dairy herds. Veterinary Record, 162, 614–617.
- Dieguez FJ, Gonzalez AM, Menendez S, Vilar MJ, Sanjuan ML, Yus E and Arnaiz I, 2009. Evaluation of four commercial serum ELISAs for detection of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* infection in dairy cows. Veterinary Journal, 180, 231–235.
- Dignass A, Van Assche G, Lindsay JO, Lemann M, Soderholm J, Colombel JF, Danese S, D'Hoore A, Gassull M, Gomollon F, Hommes DW, Michetti P, O'Morain C, Oresland T, Windsor A, Stange EF and Travis SPL and Ecco, 2010. The second European evidence-based Consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: current management. Journal of Crohns & Colitis, 4, 28–62.
- Djønne B, 2010. Paratuberculosis in Goats. In: Behr MA, Collins DM (eds.). Paratuberculosis: Organism, Disease, Control. CAB International, Oxford, United Kingdom. pp. 169–178.
- Donat K, Eulenberger K and Kampfer P, 2005. Seroprevalence of paratuberculosis in cattle in Saxony. Tierärztliche Umschau, 60, 497–501.
- Donat K, Hahn N, Eisenberg T, Schlez K, Kohler H, Wolter W, Rohde M, Putzschel R, Roesler U, Failing K and Zschock PM, 2016. Within-herd prevalence thresholds for the detection of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis*-positive dairy herds using boot swabs and liquid manure samples. Epidemiology and Infection, 144, 413–424.
- Dow CT and Ellingson JLE, 2010. Detection of *Mycobacterium avium* ss. paratuberculosis in Blau syndrome tissues. Autoimmune Diseases, 2011, 127692.
- Dreier S, Khol JL, Stein B, Fuchs K, Gutler S and Baumgartner W, 2006. Serological, bacteriological and molecularbiological survey of paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) in Austrian cattle. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series B-Infectious Diseases and Veterinary Public Health, 53, 477–481.
- Dukes TW, Glover GJ, Brooks BW, Duncan JR and Swendrowski M, 1992. Paratuberculosis in saiga antelope (*Saiga tatarica*) and experimental transmission to domestic sheep. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 28, 161–170.
- Eamens GJ, Walker DM, Porter NS and Fell SA, 2008. Radiometric pooled faecal culture for the detection of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* in low-shedder cattle. Australian Veterinary Journal, 86, 259–265.
- EFSA AHAW Panel (EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare), More S, Bøtner A, Butterworth A, Calistri P, Depner K, Edwards S, Garin-Bastuji B, Good M, Gortázar Schmidt C, Michel V, Miranda MA, Nielsen SS, Raj M, Sihvonen L, Spoolder H, Stegeman JA, Thulke HH, Velarde A, Willeberg P, Winckler C, Baldinelli F, Broglia A, Candiani D, Gervelmeyer A, Zancanaro G, Kohnle L, Morgado J and Bicout D, 2017. Scientific opinion on an ad hoc method for the assessment on listing and categorisation of animal diseases within the framework of the Animal Health Law. EFSA Journal 2017;15(5):4783, 42 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4783
- Egan J, Weavers E and O'Grady D, 1999. An evaluation of diagnostic tests for Johne's disease in cattle. Irish Veterinary Journal, 52, 86–89.
- Eisenberg SWF, Nielen M, Santema W, Houwers DJ, Heederik D and Koets AP, 2010. Detection of spatial and temporal spread of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* in the environment of a cattle farm through bio-aerosols. Veterinary Microbiology, 143, 284–292.
- Eisenberg SWF, Koets AP, Nielen M, Heederik D, Mortier R, Buck Jd and Orsel K, 2011. Intestinal infection following aerosol challenge of calves with *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis*. Veterinary Research, 42, 117.
- Eltholth MM, Marsh VR, Van Winden S and Guitian FJ, 2009. Contamination of food products with *Mycobacterium avium* paratuberculosis: a systematic review. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 107, 1061–1071.
- Eppleston J, Begg DJ, Dhand NK, Watt B and Whittington RJ, 2014. Environmental Survival of Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis in Different Climatic Zones of Eastern Australia. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 80, 2337–2342.



- Espejo LA, Kubat N, Godden SM and Wells SJ, 2013. Effect of delayed exposure of cattle to *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis on the development of subclinical and clinical Johne's disease. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 74, 1304–1310.
- Fang Y, Wu WH, Pepper JL, Larsen JL, Marras SAE, Nelson EA, Epperson WB and Christopher-Hennings J, 2002. Comparison of real-time, quantitative PCR with molecular beacons to nested PCR and culture methods for detection of Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis in bovine fecal samples. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 40, 287–291.
- Fechner K, Matz-Rensing K, Lampe K, Kaup F-J, Czerny C-P and Schafer J, 2017. Detection of Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis in non-human primates. Journal of Medical Primatology, 1–7.
- Fecteau ME, Fyock TL, McAdams SC, Boston RC, Whitlock RH and Sweeney RW, 2011. Evaluation of the in vitro activity of gallium nitrate against Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 72, 1243–1246.
- Feller M, Huwiler K, Stephan R, Altpeter E, Shang A, Furrer H, Pfyffer GE, Jemmi T, Baumgartner A and Egger M, 2007. *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis and Crohn's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infectious Diseases, 7, 607–613.
- Fernandez-Silva JA, Abdulmawjood A, Akineden O, Drager K, Klawonn W and Bulte M, 2012. Molecular epidemiology of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* at a regional scale in Germany. Research in Veterinary Science, 93, 776–782.
- Fernandez-Silva JA, Correa-Valencia NM and Ramirez NF, 2014. Systematic review of the prevalence of paratuberculosis in cattle, sheep, and goats in Latin America and the Caribbean. Tropical Animal Health and Production, 46, 1321–1340.
- Ferroglio E, Nebbia P, Robino P, Rossi L and Rosati S, 2000. Mycobacterium paratuberculosis infection in two free-ranging Alpine ibex. Revue Scientifique Et Technique-Office International Des Epizooties, 19, 859–862.
- Fischer OA, Matlova L, Dvorska L, Svastova P, Peral DL, Weston RT, Bartos M and Pavlik I, 2004. Beetles as possible vectors of infections caused by Mycobacterium avium species. Veterinary Microbiology, 102, 247–255.
- Florou M, Leontides L, Kostoulas P, Billinis C, Sofia M, Kyriazakis I and Lykotrafitis F, 2008. Isolation of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis from non-ruminant wildlife living in the sheds and on the pastures of Greek sheep and goats. Epidemiology and Infection, 136, 644–652.
- Franken P, 2005. Paratuberculosis control in the Netherlands: the target and an overview of activities. Proceedings of the 8th International Colloquium on Paratuberculosis, Copenhagen, Denmark, 15–19.
- Fritsch I, Luyven G, Kohler H, Lutz W and Mobius P, 2012. Suspicion of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis Transmission between Cattle and Wild-Living Red Deer (*Cervus elaphus*) by Multitarget Genotyping. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 78, 1132–1139.
- Frossling J, Wahlstrom H, Agren ECC, Cameron A, Lindberg A and Lewerin SS, 2013. Surveillance system sensitivities and probability of freedom from *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* infection in Swedish cattle. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 108, 47–62.
- Gasteiner J, Wenzl H, Fuchs K, Jark U and Baumgartner W, 1999. Serological cross-sectional study of paratuberculosis in cattle in Austria. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series B-Infectious Diseases and Veterinary Public Health, 46, 457–466.
- Geilhausen HE, 2002. Serological survey on infectious diseases of a white yak herd in the Gansu Province. Proceedings of the 3rd International Congress on Yak production in central Asian highlands (4th–9th September 2000), Lhasa, P.R. China, 445–449.
- Geraghty T, Graham DA, Mullowney P and More SJ, 2014. A review of bovine Johne's disease control activities in 6 endemically infected countries. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 116, 1–11.
- Golan L, Livneh-Kol A, Gonen E, Yagel S, Rosenshine I and Shpigel NY, 2009. *Mycobacterium avium paratuberculosis* Invades Human Small-Intestinal Goblet Cells and Elicits Inflammation. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 199, 350–354.
- Greig A, Stevenson K, Henderson D, Perez V, Hughes V, Pavlik I, Hines ME, McKendrick I and Sharp JM, 1999. Epidemiological study of paratuberculosis in wild rabbits in Scotland. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 37, 1746– 1751.
- Griffin JFT, Hughes AD, Liggett S, Farquhar PA, Mackintosh CG and Bakker D, 2009. Efficacy of novel lipid-formulated whole bacterial cell vaccines against *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* in sheep. Vaccine, 27, 911–918.
- Griffith DE, 2007. Therapy of nontuberculous mycobacterial disease. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases, 20, 198–203.
- Groenendaal H and Galligan DT, 2003. Food Animal Economics Economic consequences of control programs for paratuberculosis in midsize dairy farms in the United States. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 223, 1757–1763.
- Groenendaal H, Nielen M and Hesselink JW, 2003. Development of the Dutch Johne's disease control program supported by a simulation model. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 60, 69–90.
- Groenendaal H, Zagmutt FJ, Patton EA and Wells SJ, 2015. Cost-benefit analysis of vaccination against *Mycobacterium avium ssp paratuberculosis* in dairy cattle, given its cross-reactivity with tuberculosis tests. Journal of Dairy Science, 98, 6070–6084.



- Gumber S, Eamens G and Whittington RJ, 2006. Evaluation of a Pourquier ELISA kit in relation to agar gel immunodiffusion (AGID) test for assessment of the humoral immune response in sheep and goats with and without *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* infection. Veterinary Microbiology, 115, 91–101.
- Hammer P, Walte HGC, Matzen S, Hensel J and Kiesner C, 2013. Inactivation of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis during Cooking of Hamburger Patties. Journal of Food Protection, 76, 1194–1201.
- Hendrick S, Duffield T, Leslie K, Lissemore K, Archambault M and Kelton D, 2005. The prevalence of milk and serum antibodies to *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* in dairy herds in Ontario. Canadian Veterinary Journal-Revue Veterinaire Canadienne, 46, 1126–1129.
- Hines ME, Stabel JR, Sweeney RW, Griffin F, Talaat AM, Bakker D, Benedictus G, Davis WC, de Lisle GW, Gardner IA, Juste RA, Kapur V, Koets A, McNair J, Pruitt G and Whitlock RH, 2007. Experimental challenge models for Johne's disease: a review and proposed international guidelines. Veterinary Microbiology, 122, 197–222.
- Houe H, Ersbøll AK and Toft N, 2004. Introduction to Veterinary Epidemiology. Biofolia, Frederiksberg, Denmark. 398 pp.
- Hutchinson LJ, 1996. Economic impact of paratuberculosis. The Veterinary clinics of North America. Food animal practice, 12, 373–381.
- IAP, 2016. Guidelines for certification for movement of livestock for *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* (MAP) infection. Available online:http://www.paratuberculosis.net/newsletters/PtbNL_12-2016.pdf
- Ikiz S, Bagcigil AF, Ak S, Ozgur NY and Lgaz A, 2005. Paratuberculosis in cattle in Turkey detected by PCR. Medycyna Weterynaryjna, 61, 881–883.
- Johne HA and Frothingham L, 1895. Ein eigenthuemlicher fall von tuberculose beim rind. Deutsche Zeitschrift für Thiermedicin und vergleichende Pathologie, 21, 438–454.
- Johnson YJ, Kaneene JB, Gardiner JC, Lloyd JW, Sprecher DJ and Coe PH, 2001. The effect of subclinical *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* infection on milk production in Michigan dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 84, 2188–2194.
- Johnson-Ifearulundu YJ, Kaneene JB, Sprecher DJ, Gardiner JC and Lloyd JW, 2000. The effect of subclinical *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* infection on days open in Michigan, USA, dairy cows. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 46, 171–181.
- Judge J, Kyriazakis I, Greig A, Davidson RS and Hutchings MR, 2006. Routes of intraspecies transmission of Mycobacterium avium subsp Paratuberculosis in rabbits (Oryctolagus cuniculus): a field study. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 72, 398–403.
- Kalis CHJ, Barkema HW, Hesselink JW, van Maanen C and Collins MT, 2002. Evaluation of two absorbed enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays and a complement fixation test as replacements for fecal culture in the detection of cows shedding *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis*. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation, 14, 219–224.
- Kalis CHJ, Collins MT, Hesselink JW and Barkema HW, 2003. Specificity of two tests for the early diagnosis of bovine paratuberculosis based on cell-mediated immunity: the Johnin skin test and the gamma interferon assay. Veterinary Microbiology, 97, 73–86.
- Katz R and Zilinskas RA, 2011. Encyclopedia of bioterrorism defense. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford. p. 661.
- Kennedy AE, Byrne N, Garcia AB, O'Mahony J and Sayers RG, 2016. Analysis of Johne's disease ELISA status and associated performance parameters in Irish dairy cows. BMC Veterinary Research, 12, 12.
- Khare S, Ficht TA, Santos RL, Romano J, Ficht AR, Zhang S, Grant IR, Libal M, Hunter D and Adams LG, 2004. Rapid and sensitive detection of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* in bovine milk and feces by a combination of immunomagnetic bead separation-conventional PCR and real-time PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 42, 1075–1081.
- Khol JL and Baumgartner W, 2012. Examples and Suggestions for the Control of Paratuberculosis in European Cattle. Japanese Journal of Veterinary Research, 60, 1–7.
- Khol JL, Stein B, Dreier S and Baumgartner W, 2006. Paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) in small ruminants in Austria. Slovenian Veterinary Research, 43, 129–130.
- Kirkeby C, Grasboll K, Nielsen SS, Christiansen LE, Toft N, Rattenborg E and Halasa T, 2016. Simulating the Epidemiological and Economic Impact of Paratuberculosis Control Actions in Dairy Cattle. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 3, 90–90.
- Klausen J, Huda A, Ekeroth L and Ahrens P, 2003. Evaluation of serum and milk ELISAs for paratuberculosis in Danish dairy cattle. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 58, 171–178.
- Knust B, Patton E, Ribeiro-Lima J, Bohn JJ and Wells SJ, 2013. Evaluation of the effects of a killed whole-cell vaccine against *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* in 3 herds of dairy cattle with natural exposure to the organism. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 242, 663–669.
- Koets A, Hoek A, Langelaar M, Overdijk M, Santema W, Franken P, Van Eden W and Rutten V, 2006. Mycobacterial 70kD heat-shock protein is an effective subunit vaccine against bovine paratuberculosis. Vaccine, 24, 2550–2559.
- Kopecna M, Ondrus S, Literak I, Klimes J, Horvathova A, Moravkova M, Bartos M, Trcka I and Pavlik I, 2006. Detection of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis in two brown bears in the central European carpathians. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 42, 691–695.



- Kormendy B, 1994. The effect of vaccination on the prevalence of paratuberculosis in large dairy herds. Veterinary Microbiology, 41, 117–125.
- Kostoulas P, Leontides L, Billinis C, Amiridis GS and Florou M, 2006a. The association of sub-clinical paratuberculosis with the fertility of Greek dairy ewes and goats varies with parity. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 74, 226–238.
- Kostoulas P, Leontides L, Enoe C, Billinis C, Florou M and Sofia M, 2006b. Bayesian estimation of sensitivity and specificity of serum ELISA and faecal culture for diagnosis of paratuberculosis in Greek dairy sheep and goats. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 76, 56–73.
- Kostoulas P, Nielsen SS, Browne WJ and Leontides L, 2010. A Bayesian Weibull survival model for time to infection data measured with delay. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 94, 191–201.
- Kralik P, Babak V and Dziedzinska R, 2014. Repeated cycles of chemical and physical disinfection and their influence on *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* viability measured by propidium monoazide F57 quantitative real time PCR. Veterinary Journal, 201, 359–364.
- Kramsky JA, Miller DS, Hope A and Collins MT, 2000. Modification of a bovine ELISA to detect camelid antibodies to Mycobacterium paratuberculosis. Veterinary Microbiology, 77, 333–337.
- Krishnan MY, Manning EJB and Collins MT, 2009. Comparison of three methods for susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis to 11 antimicrobial drugs. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 64, 310–316.
- Kudahl AB and Nielsen SS, 2009. Effect of paratuberculosis on slaughter weight and slaughter value of dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 92, 4340–4346.
- Kudahl AB, Ostergaard S, Sorensen JT and Nielsen SS, 2007. A stochastic model simulating paratuberculosis in a dairy herd. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 78, 97–117.
- Kudahl AB, Nielsen SS and Ostergaard S, 2008. Economy, Efficacy, and Feasibility of a Risk-Based Control Program Against Paratuberculosis. Journal of Dairy Science, 91, 4599–4609.
- Kuenstner JT, Chamberlin W, Naser SA, Collins MT, Dow CT, Aitken JM, Weg S, Telega G, John K, Haas D, Eckstein TM, Kali M, Welch C and Petrie T, 2015. Resolution of Crohn's disease and complex regional pain syndrome following treatment of paratuberculosis. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 21, 4048–4062.
- Kuiumdzhiev I, 1950. Paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) in cattle in Bulgaria. Izvestiia Akademii Nauk SSSR. Seriia Biologicheskaia, 1, 61–74.
- Kukanich KS, Vinasco J and Scott HM, 2013. Detection of *Mycobacterium avium* Subspecies Paratuberculosis from Intestinal and Nodal Tissue of Dogs and Cats. ISRN Veterinary Science, 2013, 323671.
- Kulkas L, 2007. Plans for a paratuberculosis certification and eradication program in Finland. Bulletin-International Dairy Federation, 410, 20–22.
- Larsen AB and Miller JM, 1978. Effect of dexamethasone on *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* infection in hamsters. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 39, 1866–1867.
- Larsen AB, Moon HW and Merkal RS, 1972. Susceptibility of horses to *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis*. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 33, 2185–2189.
- Liapi M, Leontides L, Kostoulas P, Botsaris G, Iacovou Y, Rees C, Georgiou K, Smith GC and Naseby DC, 2011. Bayesian estimation of the true prevalence of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis infection in Cypriot dairy sheep and goat flocks. Small Ruminant Research, 95, 174–178.
- Lillini E, Bitonti G, Gamberale F and Cersini A, 2005. Prevalence of bovine paratuberculosis in the Latium region (Italy). Proceedings of the 8th International Colloquium on Paratuberculosis, Copenhagen, Denmark, 638–644.
- Liverani E, Scaioli E, Cardamone C, Dal Monte P and Belluzzi A, 2014. *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* in the etiology of Crohn's disease, cause or epiphenomenon? World Journal of Gastroenterology, 20, 13060–13070.
- Lombard JE, 2011. Epidemiology and economics of paratuberculosis. Veterinary Clinics North America: Food Animal Practice, 27, 525–535.
- Lombard JE, Garry FB, McCluskey BJ and Wagner BA, 2005. Risk of removal and effects on milk production associated with paratuberculosis status in dairy cows. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 227, 1975–1981.
- Machackova M, Svastova P, Lamka J, Parmova I, Liska V, Smolik J, Fischer OA and Pavlik I, 2004. Paratuberculosis in farmed and free-living wild ruminants in the Czech Republic (1999-2001). Veterinary Microbiology, 101, 225–234.
- Mackintosh CG and Griffin JF, 2010. Paratuberculosis in deer, Camelids and other Ruminants. In: Behr MA, Collins DM (eds.). Paratuberculosis: Organism, Disease, Control. CAB International Oxford, United Kingdom. pp. 179–187.
- Mackintosh CG, de Lisle GW, Collins DM and Griffin JF, 2004. Mycobacterial diseases of deer. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 52, 163–174.
- Manning EJB, Steinberg H, Rossow K, Ruth GR and Collins MT, 1998. Epizootic of paratuberculosis in farmed elk. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 213, 1320.
- Manning EJB, Steinberg H, Krebs V and Collins MT, 2003. Diagnostic testing patterns of natural Mycobacterium paratuberculosis infection in pygmy goats. Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Veterinaire, 67, 213–218.



- Marce C, Beaudeau F, Bareille N, Seegers H and Fourichon C, 2009. Higher non-return rate associated with Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis infection at early stage in Holstein dairy cows. Theriogenology, 71, 807–816.
- Marce C, Ezanno P, Seegers H, Pfeiffer DU and Fourichon C, 2011. Within-herd contact structure and transmission of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis in a persistently infected dairy cattle herd. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 100, 116–125.
- Marco I, Ruiz M, Juste R, Garrido JM and Lavin S, 2002. Paratuberculosis in free-ranging fallow deer in Spain. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 38, 629–632.
- McAloon CG, Whyte P, More SJ, Green MJ, O'Grady L, Garcia A and Doherty ML, 2016. The effect of paratuberculosis on milk yield-A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Dairy Science, 99, 1449–1460.
- McClure HM, Chiodini RJ, Anderson DC, Swenson RB, Thayer WR and Coutu JA, 1987. Mycobacteriumparatuberculosis infection in a colony of stumptail macaques (macaca-arctoides). Journal of Infectious Diseases, 155, 1011–1019.
- McKenna SLB, Keefe GP, Barkema HW, McClure J, VanLeeuwen JA, Hanna P and Sockett DC, 2004. Cow-level prevalence of paratuberculosis in culled dairy cows in Atlantic Canada and Maine. Journal of Dairy Science, 87, 3770–3777.
- McKenna SLB, Keefe GP, Barkema HW and Sockett DC, 2005. Evaluation of three ELISAs for Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis using tissue and fecal culture as comparison standards. Veterinary Microbiology, 110, 105–111.
- McNab WB, Meek AH, Martin SW and Duncan JR, 1991. Associations between dairy production indexes and lipoarabinomannan enzyme-immunoassay results for paratuberculosis. Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Veterinaire, 55, 356–361.
- McNees AL, Markesich D, Zayyani NR and Graham DY, 2015. *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* as a cause of Crohn's disease. Expert Review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 9, 1523–1534.
- Mendes S, Boinas F, Albuquerque T, Fernandes L, Afonso A and Amado A, 2004. Epidemiological studies on paratuberculosis in small ruminants in Portugal. Épidémiologie et Santé Animale, 45, 61–71.
- Mendoza JL, San-Pedro A, Culebras E, Cies R, Taxonera C, Lana R, Urcelay E, de la Torre F, Picazo JJ and Diaz-Rubio M, 2010. High prevalence of viable Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis in Crohn's disease. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 16, 4558–4563.
- Mercier P, Baudry C, Beaudeau F, Seegers H and Malher X, 2010. Estimated prevalence of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* infection in herds of dairy goats in France. Veterinary Record, 167, 412–415.
- Merkal RS, Larsen AB and Booth GD, 1975. Analysis of the effects of inapparent bovine paratuberculosis. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 36, 837–838.
- Merkal RS, Miller JM, Hintz AM and Bryner JH, 1982. Intrauterine inoculation of mycobacterium-paratuberculosis into guinea-pigs and cattle. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 43, 676–678.
- Meylan M, Nicolet J, Busato A, Burnens A and Martig J, 1995. The prevalence of paratuberculosis in the Plateau de Diesse region. Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde, 137, 22–25.
- Miranda A, Pires MA, Pinto ML, Sousa L, Sargo R, Rodrigues J, Coelho AC, Matos M and Coelho AM, 2009. Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis in a diamant sparrow. Veterinary Record, 165, 184–184.
- Molodecky NA, Soon IS, Rabi DM, Ghali WA, Ferris M, Chernoff G, Benchimol EI, Panaccione R, Ghosh S, Barkema HW and Kaplan GG, 2012. Increasing Incidence and Prevalence of the Inflammatory Bowel Diseases With Time, Based on Systematic Review. Gastroenterology, 142, 46–54.
- More SJ, Sergeant ESG, Strain S, Cashman W, Kenny K and Graham D, 2013. The effect of alternative testing strategies and bio-exclusion practices on Johne's disease risk in test-negative herds. Journal of Dairy Science, 96, 1581–1590.
- Mork T, Heier BT, Alvseike KR and Lund A, 2003. Surveillance and control programmes for terrestrial and aquatic animals in Norway. Norsk Veterinaertidsskrift, 115, 707–717.
- Mortier RAR, Barkema HW and De Buck J, 2015. Susceptibility to and diagnosis of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis infection in dairy calves: a review. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 121, 189–198.
- Mucha R, Bhide MR, Chakurkar EB, Novak M and Mikula I Sr, 2009. Toll-like receptors TLR1, TLR2 and TLR4 gene mutations and natural resistance to *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* infection in cattle. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology, 128, 381–388.
- Munster P, Fechner K, Volkel I, von Buchholz A and Czerny CP, 2013. Distribution of *Mycobacterium avium* ssp paratuberculosis in a German zoological garden determined by IS900 semi-nested and quantitative real-time PCR. Veterinary Microbiology, 163, 116–123.
- Muskens J, Barkema HW, Russchen E, van Maanen K, Schukken YH and Bakker D, 2000. Prevalence and regional distribution of paratuberculosis in dairy herds in the Netherlands. Veterinary Microbiology, 77, 253–261.
- Muskens J, Elbers ARW, van Weering HJ and Noordhuizen J, 2003. Herd management practices associated with paratuberculosis seroprevalence in Dutch dairy herds. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series B-Infectious Diseases and Veterinary Public Health, 50, 372–377.
- Naser SA, Ghobrial G, Romero C and Valentine JF, 2004. Culture of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis from the blood of patients with Crohn's disease. Lancet, 364, 1039–1044.



- Naser SA, Sagramsingh SR, Naser AS and Thanigachalam S, 2014. Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis causes Crohn's disease in some inflammatory bowel disease patients. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 20, 7403–7415.
- Nebbia P, Robino P, Ferroglio E, Rossi L, Meneguz G and Rosati S, 2000. Paratuberculosis in red deer (Cervus elaphus hippelaphus) in the Western Alps. Veterinary Research Communications, 24, 435–443.

Nielsen SS, 2009. Programmes on Paratuberculosis in Europe. Proceedings of the 10th International Colloquium on Paratuberculosis, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA, 101-108.

Nielsen SS, 2014. Developments in diagnosis and control of bovine paratuberculosis. CAB Reviews, 9, 1-12.

Nielsen SS and Toft N, 2007. Assessment of management-related risk factors for paratuberculosis in Danish dairy herds using Bayesian mixture models. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 81, 306–317.

- Nielsen SS and Toft N, 2008. *Ante mortem* diagnosis of paratuberculosis: a review of accuracies of ELISA, interferon-gamma assay and faecal culture techniques. Veterinary Microbiology, 129, 217–235.
- Nielsen SS and Toft N, 2009. A review of prevalences of paratuberculosis in farmed animals in Europe. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 88, 1–14.
- Nielsen SS and Toft N, 2011. Effect of management practices on paratuberculosis prevalence in Danish dairy herds. Journal of Dairy Science, 94, 1849–1857.
- Nielsen SS and Toft N, 2014. Bulk tank milk ELISA for detection of antibodies to Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis: correlation between repeated tests and within-herd antibody-prevalence. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 113, 96–102.
- Nielsen SS, Enevoldsen C and Grohn YT, 2002. The Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis ELISA response by parity and stage of lactation. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 54, 1–10.
- Nielsen SS, Krogh MA and Enevoldsen C, 2009. Time to the occurrence of a decline in milk production in cows with various paratuberculosis antibody profiles. Journal of Dairy Science, 92, 149–155.
- Nielsen SS, Toft N and Okura H, 2013. Dynamics of Specific Anti-Mycobacterium avium Subsp paratuberculosis Antibody Response through Age. PLoS ONE, 8, e63009.
- Ocepek M, Krt B, Pate M and Pogacnik M, 2002. Seroprevalence of paratuberculosis in Slovenia between 1999 and 2001. Slovenian Veterinary Research, 39, 179–185.
- O'Doherty A, O'Grady D, O'Farrell K, Smith T and Egan J, 2002. Survey of Johne's disease in imported animals in the Republic of Ireland. Veterinary Record, 150, 634–636.
- OIE (World Organization for Animal Health), 2015. Register of diagnostic kits certified by the OIE as validated as fit for purpose. Available online:http://www.oie.int/our-scientific-expertise/certification-of-diagnostic-tests/the-re gister-of-diagnostic-tests/
- Okura H, Nielsen SS and Toft N, 2010. Prevalence of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* infection in adult Danish non-dairy cattle sampled at slaughter. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 94, 185–190.
- O'Reilly CE, O'Connor L, Anderson W, Harvey P, Grant IR, Donaghy J, Rowe M and O'Mahony P, 2004. Surveillance of bulk raw and commercially pasteurized cows' milk from approved Irish liquid-milk pasteurization plants to determine the incidence of *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 70, 5138–5144.
- Ott SL, Wells SJ and Wagner BA, 1999. Herd-level economic losses associated with Johne's disease on US dairy operations. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 40, 179–192.
- Parrish NM, Radcliff RP, Brey BJ, Anderson JL, Clark DL Jr, Koziczkowski JJ, Ko CG, Goldberg ND, Brinker DA, Carlson RA, Dick JD and Ellingson JL, 2009. Absence of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. paratuberculosis in Crohn's patients. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, 15, 558–565.
- Pavlík I, Pavlas M and Bejcková L, 1994. Occurrence, economic significance and diagnosis of paratuberculosis. Veterinarni Medicina, 39, 451–496.
- Pence M, Baldwin C and Black CC, 2003. The seroprevalence of Johne's disease in Georgia beef and dairy cull cattle. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation, 15, 475–477.
- Perez V, Tellechea J, Corpa JM, Gutierrez M and Marin JFG, 1999. Relation between pathologic findings and cellular immune responses in sheep with naturally acquired paratuberculosis. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 60, 123–127.
- Petit E, 2001. Serological study of bovine paratuberculosis in Yonne in 1998/1999. In: deAEEMA (Association pour Etude Epidemiologie des Maladies Animales) (ed.)^(eds.). *Epidemiology and Animal Health*. Fondation Merieux, Lyon, France. pp. 23–39.
- Pickup RW, Rhodes G, Arnott S, Sidi-Boumedine K, Bull TJ, Weightman A, Hurley M and Hermon-Taylor J, 2005. *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis in the catchment area and water of the river Taff in South Wales, United Kingdom, an its potential relationship to clustering of Crohn's disease cases in the city of Cardiff. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71, 2130–2139.
- Pickup RW, Rhodes G, Bull TJ, Arnott S, Sidi-Boumedine K, Hurley M and Hermon-Taylor J, 2006. *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis in lake catchments, in river water abstracted for domestic use, and in effluent from domestic sewage treatment works: diverse opportunities for environmental cycling and human exposure. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 72, 4067–4077.
- Pierce ES, 2009. Possible transmission of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* through potable water: lessons from an urban cluster of Crohn's disease. Gut Pathogens, 1, 5.



- Pillars RB, Grooms DL, Gardiner JC and Kaneene JB, 2011. Association between risk-assessment scores and individual-cow Johne's disease-test status over time on seven Michigan, USA dairy herds. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 98, 10–18.
- Pinna A, Masala S, Blasetti F, Maiore I, Cossu D, Paccagnini D, Mameli G and Sechi LA, 2014. Detection of Serum Antibodies Cross-Reacting with Mycobacterium avium Subspecies paratuberculosis and Beta-Cell Antigen Zinc Transporter 8 Homologous Peptides in Patients with High-Risk Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy. PLoS ONE, 9, e107802.
- Pribylova R, Lamka J, Kopecna M, Trcka I, Moravkova M and Pavlik I, 2011a. Mycobacterial Screening of Czech Red Deer (Cervus elaphus) Populations in Overwintering Sites, 2004-2006. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 47, 780–783.
- Pribylova R, Slana I, Kaevska M, Lamka J, Babak V, Jandak J and Pavlik I, 2011b. Soil and Plant Contamination with Mycobacterium Avium subsp Paratuberculosis After Exposure to Naturally Contaminated Mouflon Feces. Current Microbiology, 62, 1405–1410.
- Pritchard TC, Coffey MP, Bond KS, Hutchings MR and Wall E, 2017. Phenotypic effects of subclinical paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) in dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science, 100, 679–690.
- Quist CF, Nettles VF, Manning EJB, Hall DG, Gaydos JK, Wilmers TJ and Lopez RR, 2002. Paratuberculosis in key deer (*Odocoileus virginianus clavium*). Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 38, 729–737.
- Raizman EA, Fetrow J, Wells SJ, Godden SM, Oakes MJ and Vazquez G, 2007. The association between *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* fecal shedding or clinical Johne's disease and lactation performance on two Minnesota, USA dairy farms. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 78, 179–195.
- Raizman EA, Fetrow JP and Wells SJ, 2009. Loss of income from cows shedding *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* prior to calving compared with cows not shedding the organism on two Minnesota dairy farms. Journal of Dairy Science, 92, 4929–4936.
- Rhodes G, Richardson H, Hermon-Taylor J, Weightman A, Higham A and Pickup R, 2014. *Mycobacterium avium* Subspecies *paratuberculosis*: human Exposure through Environmental and Domestic Aerosols. Pathogens (Basel, Switzerland), 3, 577–595.
- Ridge SE, Harkin JT, Badman RT, Mellor AM and Larsen JWA, 1995. Johnes-disease in alpacas (*Lama pacos*) in australia. Australian Veterinary Journal, 72, 150–153.
- Ristow P, Marassi CD, Rodrigues ABF, Oelemann WM, Rocha F, Santos ASO, Carvalho ECQ, Carvalho CB, Ferreira R, Fonseca LS and Lilenbaumn W, 2007. Diagnosis of paratuberculosis in a dairy herd native to Brazil. Veterinary Journal, 174, 432–434.
- Robbi C, Rossi I, Nardelli S, Marangon S, Vincenzi G and Vicenzoni G, 2003. Prevalence of paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) in dairy farms in northeastern Italy. Proceedings of the Proceedings of the Seventh International Colloquium on Paratuberculosis, 457–460.
- van Roermund HJW, Bakker D, Willernsen PTJ and de Jong MCM, 2007. Horizontal transmission of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis in cattle in an experimental setting: calves can transmit the infection to other calves. Veterinary Microbiology, 122, 270–279.
- Ronal Z, Csivincsik A, Szogyenyi Z, Bacsadi A, Dan A and Janosi S, 2015. Data on the occurrence of paratuberculosis in Hungary diagnostic improvements and results from 2006-2012. Magyar Allatorvosok Lapja, 137, 211–218.
- Rossiter CA and Burhans WS, 1996. Farm-specific approach to paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) control. Veterinary Clinics of North America-Food Animal Practice, 12, 383–415.
- Rosu V, Ahmed N, Paccagnini D, Gerlach G, Fadda G, Hasnain SE, Zanetti S and Sechi LA, 2009. Specific immunoassays confirm association of *Mycobacterium avium Subsp. paratuberculosis* with type-1 but not type-2 diabetes mellitus. PLoS ONE, 4, e4386.
- Roupie V, Leroy B, Rosseels V, Piersoel V, Noel-Georis I, Romano M, Govaerts M, Letesson J-J, Wattiez R and Huygen K, 2008. Immunogenicity and protective efficacy of DNA vaccines encoding MAP0586c and MAP4308c of *Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis* secretome. Vaccine, 26, 4783–4794.
- Rubery E, 2001. A review of the evidence for a link between exposure to Mycobacterium paratuberculosis (MAP) and Crohn's disease (CD) in humans A Report for the Food Standards Agency: June 2001. University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK, 70 pp., Available at:http://www.johnes.org/handouts/files/Review%20of%20evide nce.pdf
- Salem M, Zeid AA, Hassan D, El-Sayed A and Zschoeck M, 2005. Studies on Johne's disease in Egyptian cattle. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series B-Infectious Diseases and Veterinary Public Health, 52, 134–137.
- Salgado M, Herthnek D, Bolske G, Leiva S and Kruze J, 2009. First isolation of mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis from wild guanacos (*lama guanicoe*) on tierra del fuego island. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 45, 295–301.
- Sanderson JD, Moss MT, Tizard MLV and Hermontaylor J, 1992. *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* DNA in crohns-disease tissue. Gut, 33, 890–896.
- Satsangi J, Silverberg MS, Vermeire S and Colombel JF, 2006. The Montreal classification of inflammatory bowel disease: controversies, consensus, and implications. Gut, 55, 749–753.



- Schukken YH, Whitlock RH, Wolfgang D, Grohn Y, Beaver A, VanKessel J, Zurakowski M and Mitchell R, 2015. Longitudinal data collection of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies Paratuberculosis infections in dairy herds: the value of precise field data. Veterinary Research, 46, 65.
- Sechi LA and Dow CT, 2015. *Mycobacterium avium ss. paratuberculosis* Zoonosis The Hundred Year War Beyond Crohn's Disease. Frontiers in Immunology, 6, 8.
- Sechi LA, Rosu V, Pacifico A, Fadda G, Ahmed N and Zanetti S, 2008. Humoral immune responses of type 1 diabetes patients to *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* lend support to the infectious trigger hypothesis. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology, 15, 320–326.
- Selby W, Pavli P, Crotty B, Florin T, Radford-Smith G, Gibson P, Mitchell B, Connell W, Read R, Merrett M, Ee H and Hetzel D and Crohn's Disease Study G, 2007. Two-year combination antibiotic therapy with clarithromycin, rifabutin, and clofazimine for Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology, 132, 2313–2319.
- Sergeant ESG, Marshall DJ, Eamens GJ, Kearns C and Whittington RJ, 2003. Evaluation of an absorbed ELISA and an agar-gel immuno-diffusion test for ovine paratuberculosis in sheep in Australia. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 61, 235–248.
- Sergeant ESG, Nielsen SS and Toft N, 2008. Evaluation of test-strategies for estimating probability of low prevalence of paratuberculosis in Danish dairy herds. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 85, 92–106.
- Shaughnessy LJ, Smith LA, Evans J, Anderson D, Caldow G, Marion G, Low JC and Hutchings MR, 2013. High prevalence of paratuberculosis in rabbits is associated with difficulties in controlling the disease in cattle. Veterinary Journal, 198, 267–270.
- Singh SV, Singh PK, Singh AV, Sohal JS, Gupta VK and Vihan VS, 2007. Comparative efficacy of an indigenous 'inactivated vaccine' using highly pathogenic field strain of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* 'Bison type' with a commercial vaccine for the control of *Capri paratuberculosis* in India. Vaccine, 25, 7102– 7110.
- Singh SV, Singh AV, Singh PK, Kumar A and Singh B, 2011. Molecular identification and characterization of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis in free living non-human primate (*Rhesus macaques*) from North India. Comparative Immunology Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 34, 267–271.
- Singh SV, Singh AV, Avnish K, Singh PK, Rajib D, Verma AK, Amit K, Ruchi T, Sandip C and Kuldeep D, 2013. Survival mechanisms of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis within host species and in the environment-a review. Natural Science, 5, 710–723.
- Singh SV, Kuenstner JT, Davis WC, Agarwal P, Kumar N, Singh D, Gupta S, Chaubey KK, Kumar A, Misri J, Jayaraman S, Sohal JS and Dhama K, 2016. Concurrent Resolution of Chronic Diarrhea Likely Due to Crohn's Disease and Infection with *Mycobacterium avium paratuberculosis*. Frontiers in Medicine, 3, 49.
- Sisto M, Cucci L, D'Amore M, Dow TC, Mitolo V and Lisi S, 2010. Proposing a relationship between *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis infection and Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases, 42, 787–790.
- Sivakumar P, Tripathi BN, Singh N and Sharma AK, 2006. Pathology of naturally occurring paratuberculosis in water buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis). Veterinary Pathology, 43, 455–462.
- Smith MC, 1998. Paratuberculosis in small ruminant. Proceedings of the Western Veterinary Conference (WVC): The Small Ruminants for the Mixed Animal Practitioner, Las Vegas, USA.
- Smith RL, Groehn YT, Pradhan AK, Whitlock RH, Van Kessel JS, Smith JM, Wolfgang DR and Schukken YH, 2016. The effects of progressing and nonprogressing *Mycobacterium avium ssp paratuberculosis* infection on milk production in dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 99, 1383–1390.
- Sockett DC, Carr DJ and Collins MT, 1992. Evaluation of conventional and radiometric fecal culture and a commercial DNA probe for diagnosis of mycobacterium-paratuberculosis infections in cattle. Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research-Revue Canadianne De Recherche Veterinaire, 56, 148–153.
- St Jean G, 1996. Treatment of clinical paratuberculosis in cattle. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice, 12, 417–430.
- Stabel JR, 2008. Pasteurization of colostrum reduces the incidence of paratuberculosis in neonatal dairy calves. Journal of Dairy Science, 91, 3600–3606.
- Stark KD, Frei-Staheli C, Frei PP, Pfeiffer DU, Danuser J, Audige L, Nicolet J, Strasser M, Gottstein B and Kihm U, 1997. Frequency and cost of health problems in Swiss dairy cows and their calves (1993-1994). Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde, 139, 343–353.
- Stehman SM, 1996. Paratuberculosis in Small Ruminants, Deer, and South American Camelids. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice, 12, 441–455.
- Sternberg S and Viske D, 2003. Control strategies for paratuberculosis in Sweden. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 44, 247–249.
- Stevenson K, 2015. Genetic diversity of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis and the influence of strain type on infection and pathogenesis: a review. Veterinary Research, 46, 13.
- Stevenson K, Alvarez J, Bakker D, Biet F, de Juan L, Denham S, Dimareli Z, Dohmann K, Gerlach GF, Heron I, Kopecna M, May L, Pavlik I, Sharp JM, Thibault VC, Willemsen P, Zadoks RN and Greig A, 2009. Occurrence of *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis across host species and European countries with evidence for transmission between wildlife and domestic ruminants. BMC Microbiology, 9, 13.



- Stott A, Arnoult M, Toma L and Gunn G, 2010. What cost for PTB at farm, region and national levels?. Proceedings of the 2010 SVEPM Annual Conference: ParaTB tools workshop, Nantes, France.
- Streeter RN, Hoffsis GF, Bechnielsen S, Shulaw WP and Rings M, 1995. Isolation of mycobacteriumparatuberculosis from colostrum and milk of subclinically infected cows. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 56, 1322–1324.
- Stringer LA, Wilson PR, Heuer C and Mackintosh CG, 2013. A randomised controlled trial of Silirum vaccine for control of paratuberculosis in farmed red deer. Veterinary Record, 173, 551.
- Sweeney RW, 1996. Transmission of paratuberculosis. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice, 12, 305–312.
- Sweeney RW, 2011. Pathogenesis of Paratuberculosis. Veterinary Clinics of North America Food Animal Practice, 27, 537–546.
- Sweeney RW, Whitlock RH and Rosenberger AE, 1992. *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* isolated from fetuses of infected cows not manifesting signs of the disease. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 53, 477–480.
- Sweeney RW, Whitlock RH, Bowersock TL, Cleary DL, Meinert TR, Habecker PL and Pruitt GW, 2009. Effect of subcutaneous administration of a killed *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis vaccine on colonization of tissues following oral exposure to the organism in calves. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 70, 493–497.
- Sweeney RW, Collins MT, Koets AP, McGuirk SM and Roussel AJ, 2012. Paratuberculosis (Johne's Disease) in Cattle and Other Susceptible Species. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 26, 1239–1250.
- Szteyn J and Wiszniewska-Laszczych A, 2012. Seroprevalence of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* infection in dairy herds in Zulawy, Poland. Berliner und Münchener Tierärztliche Wochenschrift, 125, 397–400.
- Tharaldsen J, Djonne B, Fredriksen B, Nyberg O and Sigurdardottir O, 2003. The national paratuberculosis program in Norway. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 44, 243–246.
- Tiwari A, VanLeeuwen JA, McKenna SLB, Keefe GP and Barkema HW, 2006. Johne's disease in Canada Part I: clinical symptoms, pathophysiology, diagnosis, and prevalence in dairy herds. Canadian Veterinary Journal-Revue Veterinaire Canadienne, 47, 874–882.
- Tiwari A, VanLeeuwen JA, Dohoo IR, Keefe GP and Weersink A, 2008. Estimate of the direct production losses in Canadian dairy herds with subclinical *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies *paratuberculosis* infection. Canadian Veterinary Journal-Revue Veterinaire Canadianne, 49, 569–576.
- Tripathi BN, Periasamy S, Paliwal OP and Singh N, 2006. Comparison of IS900 tissue PCR, bacterial culture, johnin and serological. tests for diagnosis of naturally occurring paratuberculosis in goats. Veterinary Microbiology, 116, 129–137.
- Tryland M, Olsen I, Vikoren T, Handeland K, Arnemo JM, Tharaldsen J, Djonne B, Josefsen TD and Reitan LJ, 2004. Serologic survey for antibodies against *Mycobacterium avium* subsp Paratuberculosis in free-ranging cervids from Norway. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 40, 32–41.
- Uzoigwe JC, Khaitsa ML and Gibbs PS, 2007. Epidemiological evidence for *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis as a cause of Crohn's disease. Epidemiology and Infection, 135, 1057–1068.
- Uzonna JE, Chilton P, Whitlock RH, Habecker PL, Scott P and Sweeney RW, 2003. Efficacy of commercial and field-strain *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* vaccinations with recombinant IL-12 in a bovine experimental infection model. Vaccine, 21, 3101–3109.
- Van Brandt L, Coudijzer K, Herman L, Michiels C, Hendrickx M and Vlaemynck G, 2011. Survival of *Mycobacterium avium* ssp paratuberculosis in yoghurt and in commercial fermented milk products containing probiotic cultures. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 110, 1252–1261.
- Van Kooten HC, Mackintosh CG and Koets AP, 2006. Intra-uterine transmission of paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) in farmed red deer. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 54, 16–20.
- Van Kruiningen HJ, Jossens M, Vermeire S, Joossens S, Debeugny S, Gower-Rousseau C, Cortot A, Colombel JF, Rutgeerts P and Vlietinck R, 2005. Environmental factors in familial Crohn's disease in Belgium. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, 11, 360–365.
- Van Schaik G, Rossiter CR, Stehman SM, Shin SJ and Schukken YH, 2003a. Longitudinal study to investigate variation in results of repeated ELISA and culture of fecal samples for *Mycobacterium avium* subspecies paratuberculosis in commercial dairy herds. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 64, 479–484.
- Van Schaik G, Shukken YH, Crainiceanu C, Muskens J and VanLeeuwen JA, 2003b. Prevalence estimates for paratuberculosis adjusted for test variability using Bayesian analysis. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 60, 281–295.
- Verdugo C, Toft N and Nielsen SS, 2015. Within- and between-herd prevalence variation of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis infection among control programme herds in Denmark (2011-2013). Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 121, 282–287.
- Verna AE, Garcia-Pariente C, Munoz M, Moreno O, Garcia-Marin JF, Romano MI, Paolicchi F and Perez V, 2007. Variation in the immuno-pathological responses of lambs after experimental infection with different strains of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis. Zoonoses and Public Health, 54, 243–252.
- Videnova K and Mackay DKJ, 2012. Availability of vaccines against major animal diseases in the European Union. Revue Scientifique Et Technique-Office International Des Epizooties, 31, 971–978.



- Waddell LA, Rajic A, Stark KDC and McEwen SA, 2015. The zoonotic potential of *Mycobacterium avium* ssp paratuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analyses of the evidence. Epidemiology and Infection, 143, 3135–3157.
- Waddell L, Rajic A, Stark K and McEwen SA, 2016. *Mycobacterium avium* ssp paratuberculosis detection in animals, food, water and other sources or vehicles of human exposure: a scoping review of the existing evidence. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 132, 32–48.
- Weber MF, Van Schaik G, Aalberts M and Velthuis AG, 2014. Milk Quality Assurance for Paratuberculosis: Progress Obtained in the Cohort of Dairy Herds that Entered the Program in 2006-2007. Proceedings of the 4th ParaTB Forum, Parma, Italy, pp. 67–73.
- Wells SJ, 1996. Johne's Disease on US Dairy Operations: Results From the NAHMS Dairy'96 Study. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting United States Animal Health Association, Fort Collins, Colorado, USA. pp. 339–342.
- Wentink GH, Bongers JH, Zeeuwen AA and Jaartsveld FH, 1994. Incidence of paratuberculosis after vaccination against *M. paratuberculosis* in two infected dairy herds. Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin. Reihe B, 41, 517–522.
- Whan L, Ball HJ, Grant IR and Rowe MT, 2005. Occurrence of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* in untreated water in Northern Ireland. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71, 7107–7112.
- Whitlock RH and Buergelt C, 1996. Preclinical and clinical manifestations of paratuberculosis (including pathology). Veterinary Clinics of North America-Food Animal Practice, 12, 345.
- Whitlock RH, Wells SJ, Sweeney RW and Van Tiem J, 2000. ELISA and fecal culture for paratuberculosis (Johne's disease): sensitivity and specificity of each method. Veterinary Microbiology, 77, 387–398.
- Whittington RJ and Windsor PA, 2009. In utero infection of cattle with *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis: a. critical review and meta-analysis. Veterinary Journal, 179, 60–69.
- Whittington RJ, Marshall DJ, Nicholls PJ, Marsh AB and Reddacliff LA, 2004. Survival and dormancy of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis in the environment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 70, 2989–3004.
- Whittington RJ, Marsh IB and Reddacliff LA, 2005. Survival of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp paratuberculosis in dam water and sediment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71, 5304–5308.
- Williams ES, Snyder SP and Martin KL, 1983. Pathology of spontaneous and experimental infection of North American wild ruminants with *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis*. Veterinary Pathology, 20, 274–290.
- Windsor PA, 2013. Understanding the efficacy of vaccination in controlling ovine paratuberculosis. Small Ruminant Research, 110, 161–164.
- Windsor PA, 2015. Paratuberculosis in sheep and goats. Veterinary Microbiology, 181, 161–169.
- Windsor PA, Eppleston J, Dhand NK and Whittington RJ, 2014. Effectiveness of Gudair(TM) vaccine for the control of ovine Johne's disease in flocks vaccinating for at least 5 years. Australian Veterinary Journal, 92, 263–268.
- Wolf R, Clement F, Barkema HW and Orsel K, 2014. Economic evaluation of participation in a voluntary Johne's disease prevention and control program from a farmer's perspective-The Alberta Johne's Disease Initiative. Journal of Dairy Science, 97, 2822–2834.
- Wolf R, Barkema HW, De Buck J and Orsel K, 2016. Dairy farms testing positive for *Mycobacterium avium ssp* paratuberculosis have poorer hygiene practices and are less cautious when purchasing cattle than test-negative herds. Journal of Dairy Science, 99, 4526–4536.
- Woodbine KA, Schukken YH, Green LE, Ramirez-Villaescusa A, Mason S, Moore SJ, Bilbao C, Swann N and Medley GF, 2009. Seroprevalence and epidemiological characteristics of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* on 114 cattle farms in south west England. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 89, 102–109.
- Zimmer K, Drager KG, Klawonn W and Hess RG, 1999. Contribution to the diagnosis of Johne's disease in cattle. Comparative studies on the validity of Ziehl-Neelsen staining, faecal culture and a commercially available DNA-Probe (R) test in detecting *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* in faeces from cattle. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series B-Infectious Diseases and Veterinary Public Health, 46, 137–140.
- Zwick LS, Walsh TF, Barbiers R, Collins MT, Kinsel MJ and Murnane RD, 2002. Paratuberculosis in a mandrill (*Papio sphinx*). Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation, 14, 326–328.

Abbreviations

- AGID agar gel immunodiffusion
- AHAW EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare
- AHL Animal Health Law
- CD Crohn's disease
- CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- CFSPH Centre for Food Security and Public Health
- DALY disability-adjusted life year
- DTH delayed type hypersensitivity
- ECCO European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation
- ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay



GHG	greenhouse gases
HR	high-risk
IAP	International Association for Paratuberculosis
ICBA	Individual and Collective Behavioural Aggregation
IFN-γ	interferon gamma
IgG	immunoglobulin G
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
JD	Johne's disease
LR	low-risk
MAP	Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis
MS	Member State
OIE	World Organisation for Animal Health
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
ToR	Terms of Reference

www.efsa.europa.eu/efsajournal